

Lunds Universitet Department of Sociology

SIMZ21 Spring 2024 Supervised by Shai Mulinari

Understanding Patriarchal Sexual Scripts in an Anonymous Survey Using Network Analysis

Ragna Lou Heyne

Graduate School at the Faculty of Social Sciences M.Sc. Social Studies of Gender Major in Sociology

> Måsvägen 7C 22733 Lund ragnaheyne@gmx.de

> > 16.05.2024

Abstract

This thesis explores patriarchal sexual scripts through network analysis of data collected in an anonymous survey with a final sample of N = 1.029 responses. The aim is both conceptual and methodological insofar as the project uses Gaussian Graphical Models to develop a radical feminist point about patriarchal sexuality. For this purpose, the concept patriarchal sexual scripts is developed from radical feminist theory and sexual script theory and operationalised into a short questionnaire. Data was collected using this questionnaire in an anonymous public survey and analysed through several methods (descriptive statistics, correlation analysis, regression analysis, factor analysis, network analysis) with a focus on network analysis, within which four overarching themes can be detected: (1) sexual discomfort emerges as an overarching theme, (2) asymmetrical pleasure and phallocentrism are featured in all models, but configured differently according to gender, (3) masculine dominance emerges as a distinct theme for women, while (4) naturalized masculine initiative emerges as a distinct theme for men. These findings are interpreted to give a more nuanced account of radical feminist analysis of sexual intercourse and allow for a methodological discussion of the advantages and issues of network analysis in the context of understanding sexual scripts.

Key Words: Radical Feminism, Network Analysis, Sexual Scripts, Feminist Data Science, Survey Data

Word Count (excluding abstract, appendix etc.): 21.722

Popular Science Summary

Radical feminists believe that the way that men and women interact with each other sexually plays a big role in shaping our collective understanding of what it means to be a man or a woman. In the patriarchal idea of gender and in a lot of (heterosexual) sex, men are dominant over women, which means they are usually in charge of the situation and their needs and desires are often de facto more important than those of women.

To make this more tangible, I use the concept "patriarchal sexual script". Sexual scripts are shared ideas about what sex usually looks like that both influence and are influenced by how people usually behave during sex like a self-fulfilling prophecy: if you believe that the man usually kisses the woman first on a heterosexual date, you are likely to act in line with this belief, and that in turn will lead to situations that strengthen the belief. In combination with radical feminism, that leads us to the idea of patriarchal sexual scripts.

For my thesis, I made a questionnaire with ten items that correspond to such patriarchal sexual scripts and let 1.029 people fill it out. I analysed this data using network analysis, which is a type of statistical analysis that is used to understand how different things (those could be people, cities, cells, etc.) relate to each other. In my case, the things that are related to each other are the different statements of the survey that express patriarchal sexual scripts, and the network analysis can help us understand better what image of patriarchal sexual scripts emerges from the data I collected.

In this analysis, I build different network models for men and women to see if the patterns of sexual scripts are different according to gender. I found four themes in the data: first, both men and women have patterns in their network that express *discomfort with sex* in general. Second, there is a theme that is about *sexual pleasure*. This theme was configured differently by gender: while women associate their lack of sexual pleasure with a focus on men's orgasms and penetrative sex, men associate it more with an overall conservative description of sex (that is penetrative sex in the missionary position). Third, there is a theme of *masculine dominance* that only shows up distinctly in the women's network, while the fourth theme expresses *men being imitators as well as a biological focus* of sexuality. These results suggest that men and women interpret patriarchal roles in sex differently, which can help us in understanding the patriarchal sexual dynamics that radical feminism criticises.

Acknowledgements

The day my survey went online I spent several hours refreshing the page over and over in disbelief, watching the number of responses increase by the minute. I want to thank everyone who has filled in the questionnaire and helped share it with thousands of people. The amount of support I have received by my community but also by complete strangers exceeds what I can hold in my mind and heart.

I want to thank Shai Mulinari, my supervisor, for allowing me to dream big, for telling me what I needed to hear, and for always having my back. I am in awe at the professionalism and wit Shai brought to the subject matter of my thesis, and I can say with immense gratitude that I always felt unconditionally seen and supported in our meetings.

I want to thank the radiant Lisa Van Gorp, my best friend, who has walked with me through this degree from the first day to the last. I want to thank my lower C family, who made living in Sweden the best experience of my life. And I want to thank my friends from R5, who have encouraged me, supported me, and enriched my life with music along the way.

I also want to thank my family, who have made it possible for me to be here, and who I know are rooting for me from afar.

And finally, I want to thank Jacob, who lent me his brilliant mind, held space for my feelings, and believed in me more than I ever could. You are my inspiration, and I am grateful to you always.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
PREVIOUS RESEARCH	3
Sexual Fantasies, Attitudes on Gender, and Sexual Aggression	
Studying Sexual Scripts	7
Why Radical Feminism?	9
THEORETICAL CONCEPTS	13
Sexual Intercourse in Radical Feminist Theory	
Sexual Scripts Theory	
Methodology	17
Measuring Patriarchal Sexual Scripts	17
Feminism, Statistics, and Network Methodology	22
Methods of Data Collection	26
Methods of Data Analysis	
Data Cleaning, Assumption Checks, and Descriptive Statistics	
Partial Correlations and Regression Analysis	
Exploratory Factor Analysis	
Exploratory Network Analysis: Gaussian Graphical Models	
Ethical Statement	32
RESULTS	
Descriptive Statistics	33
Partial Correlations	34
Regression Analysis	35
Factor Analysis	
Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)	
Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)	
Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)	
Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)	
Factor Analysis Summary	
Network Analysis	40
Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)	
Gendered Model 1: Women $(N = 669)$	
Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)	
Binary Weighted Model ($N = 642$)	
Network Analysis Summary	
DISCUSSION	

Gendered Patriarchal Sexual Scripts and the Case for Radical Feminism	52
Reflections on Network Analysis	56
Further Limitations and Perspectives for Future Research	59
CONCLUDING SUMMARY	62
APPENDIX	I
Bibliography	1
List of Figures and Tables in the Main Text	VIII
Flyer Designs	IX
Supporting Tables and Figures	XI
Descriptive Statistics	XI
Demographic frequency tables	XI
Gendered Item Distributions	XIII
Correlation Analysis	XVIII
Regression Analysis	XX
Factor Analysis	XXVI
Full Initial Model (N = 1.029)	XXVII
Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)	XXX
Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)	XXXIII
Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)	XXXVI
Network Analysis	XXXIX
Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)	XXXIX
Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)	XLI
Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)	XLIII
Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)	XLV
Network Model Comparison	XLVII

INTRODUCTION

The current thesis is motivated by two impulses, one political and one methodological. First and foremost, I am writing toward sexual violence prevention. My experience working in this field has given me an understanding of the systemic, gendered nature of sexual violence, and a strong conviction that to overcome sexual violence as a structural issue, we must understand just how entrenched it is in our lives and minds. To construct a thesis that captures this thought has been a challenging process – due to the opaque nature of the topic, as well as due to concerns about research ethics and data protection. It has led me away from directly studying sexual violence or aggression, and towards studying how patriarchal principles saturate how we think about sex even in nonviolent situations. It has also led me to radical feminist theory, developing the notion of patriarchal sexual scripts to conceptualise how normative sexual practices are informed by patriarchal norms.

Secondly, methodologically, I want to integrate elements of radical feminist theory with contemporary statistical methods. Historically, feminist theories have rightfully critiqued the positivist epistemological stance that much quantitative research subscribes to, which has led some feminist scholars to favour qualitative methodologies. It has also inspired a tradition of quantitative feminist scholarship - a prominent example is the work of Emma Fulu and her colleagues, who apply feminist principles to quantitative research about sexual violence against women and girls in low and middle income countries (Fulu et al., 2013; Leung et al., 2019). However, I believe that work remains to be done in the realm of feminist quantitative sociology, especially when it comes to incorporating recent developments within quantitative social scientific methodologies. To take a step in this direction, I am using network analysis, which has been gaining popularity in recent years. I am taking particular inspiration from the work of Timothy Luke, who uses Gaussian Graphical Models (GGMs) to develop a theoretically sound quantitative analysis of rape myth acceptance. He argues that GGMs are particularly suited for the analysis of agreement to social discourses because they do not make any assumptions about

causal structures. I replicate this methodological approach within an explicitly feminist theoretical frame and within the disciplinary realm of sociology.

Conceptually, my thesis develops the theoretical notion of *patriarchal sexual scripts* from a combination of radical feminist theory and sexual script theory. Sexual scripts are shared narratives about what "normal" sexuality looks like that both shape and are shaped by concrete sexual interactions between people. Thus, sexual scripts can be a conceptual tool to understand the social construction of sexuality. Patriarchal sexual scripts specifically are narratives of sexuality that relate to patriarchal ideas, such as a focus on men's pleasure, the phallocentric and heteronormative equation of sexuality with penile penetration, and an implicit assumption of consent unless specified otherwise.

It is beyond my scope to explore the functionality of patriarchal sexual scripts in the context of the societal construction of sexuality and gender. My aim in this thesis is merely to explore how such different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts relate to each other, and specifically - as radical feminist theory would suggest whether masculine sexual dominance emerges as a central theme in the context of relational patterns emerging from this analysis. For this purpose, I have constructed an anonymous questionnaire containing ten items that capture different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts. A final sample of 1.029 responses to this questionnaire was collected in a public survey over the period of a month. I am conducting a quantitative network analysis of the collected data using Gaussian Graphical Models to explore what patterns emerge between the different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts as represented by the questionnaire items. To adequately contextualise the network analysis and understand its conceptual contribution, I additionally conduct a basic descriptive analysis, correlation analysis, regression analysis, and factor analysis of the collected data. The survey was distributed via Lund University's own software Sunet Survey. For the statistical analysis I used both SPSS (for descriptive statistics, correlations, regression analysis, and factor analysis), and R (for network analysis). Reflecting that my thesis is a methodological as well as a conceptual endeavour, my research is guided by the following two questions:

- 1. Conceptual Question: What patterns can be observed between aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts, and how does masculine sexual dominance figure within these patterns?
- 2. Methodological Question: In what ways is Network Analysis with Gaussian Graphical Models specifically appropriate or useful in the context of studying patterns of patriarchal sexual scripts?

My thesis is structured as follows: I will first engage in a brief review of some relevant literature. This is followed by a theoretical section that draws on radical feminist theory of sexuality and sexual script theory to suggest the notion of patriarchal sexual scripts. The methodological section entails the operationalisation of patriarchal sexual scripts, a short discussion of the use of quantitative methods in the context of feminist sociology, explanations of my methods of data collection and data analysis, and a statement about the research ethics of my project. My results-section is split into five parts to accommodate my methods of data analysis: (1) descriptive statistics, (2) correlation analysis, (3) regression analysis, (4) factor analysis, and (5) network analysis. This is followed by a discussion of my results in relation to my research questions and my broader theoretical and methodological frame. Finally, I will address some shortcomings and limitations of my project, and finish with a concluding summary.

PREVIOUS RESEARCH

In the following, I will briefly sketch three strands of research I consider especially relevant to my project. First, my project has drawn inspiration from quantitative studies measuring different kinds of attitudes about sex, which are mostly (socio-)psychological. Second, there is a socio-psychological and sociological body of research using the notion of sexual scripts. Third and finally, I want to address some theoretical debates about radical feminism to justify my choice of theory.

Sexual Fantasies, Attitudes on Gender, and Sexual Aggression

Insofar as my thesis is a quantitative study measuring agreement with statements about sex, it is related to a body of psychometric literature researching peoples' attitudes, fantasies, and behaviours related to sexual intercourse. Within this body of research, many studies follow a descriptive logic in developing and modifying scales about sexual fantasies. Some tools that have emerged from this literature are the Wilson Sexual Fantasy Questionnaire (Joyal et al., 2015), Gray's Sexual Fantasy Questionnaire (Bartels and Harper, preprint), the Sexual Desire and Erotic Fantasies Questionnaire (Nimbi et al., 2023), and the Sexual Fantasy Experience Scale (Hasson and Ginzburg, 2024). Further, some studies about sexual fantasies use scales related to the DSM-based concept of *paraphilia* (Joyal and Carpentier, 2017; Joyal and Carpentier, 2022).

An important sub-branch of the field explores the acceptance of *Rape Myths*, i.e., false ideological beliefs about sexual violence that blame the victim for experienced assault (Balezina and Zakharova, 2023; Łyś et al., 2023; Nyúl and Kende, 2023; Dawtry et al., 2019). These studies sometimes also associate rape myth acceptance with conservative gender-related opinions such as sexism (Balezina and Zakharova, 2023; Nyúl and Kende, 2023), social dominance orientation, cultural conservatism and beliefs in the biological origin of gender differences (Łyś et al., 2023).

This is part of a larger trend that attempts to link different kinds of sexual fantasies and/or sexual desires to other attitudes. Some evidence suggests that sexual fantasies featuring aggression or dominance might be linked to rape-prone attitudes (Bartels and Gannon, 2009) and hostility towards women (Bartels et al., 2020). Some studies go even further and attempt to link sexual desires and gendered attitudes to sexual behaviour or self-reported proneness to sexual aggression. For example, Abrams et al. (2003) find that hostile attitudes towards women influences how research participants read stories about rape, including whether they report proneness to behaving similarly to the perpetrator in the story. Bondü and Birke (2021b) find aggression-related fantasies to be the strongest predictor of sexually coercive behaviour compared to other factors like general aggression, psychopathy, rape myth acceptance, and violent pornography consumption. Begany and Milburn (2002) find that hostile sexism, along with right-wing-authoritarianism (mediated by rape myth acceptance) predicts male participants' likelihood to indicate they would be willing to sexually harass a hypothetical female university student.

Operating with the DSM-based concept of paraphilia, Baur et al. (2016) found moderate to strong correlations between almost all "paraphilic interests" (exhibitionism, masochism, sadism, and voyeurism) and sexually coercive behaviour¹. The three strongest associations between interest and behaviours were found for sexual sadism, exhibitionism, and sexual masochism. Further, they find fetishistic, voyeuristic, and exhibitionistic behaviours to be associated with being a man, while masochistic behaviours seem associated with being a woman.

Importantly, some attention has been paid specifically to the role of BDSM affiliation in this context, to differentiate between the desire for consensual dominance-submission dynamics and behaviour that is sexually coercive or aggressive. Larue et al. (2014) develop the notion of *preference for sexual violence* and find that for men specifically, preference for sexual violence in sexual fantasy is a moderate predictor for interest in non-consensual sexual activity. They attribute the fact that the correlation is only moderate to the importance that is placed on the difference between consensual dominance/submission and non-consensual violence in the BDSM community. However, according to Bondü and Birke (2021a), people with a BDSM affiliation did report significantly more nonconsensual behaviours than people without it, which indicates that despite the communities focus on the difference between consensual BDSM and sexual violence, engaging in consensual BDSM is not a protective factor against violence perpetration.

These findings underline the urgency for feminist scholarship about attitudes about sex: there does seem to be some empirical support for the idea that (the desire for) sexual dominance is more common among people who identify as men, and also that this desire is to some degree linked to hostile attitudes toward women, and potentially even to sexually aggressive behaviour. This is especially important considering that most of the studies cited so far are not feminist: despite the fact that these studies consistently find women to show greater interest in sexual submission/masochism and men to show greater interest in sexual dominance/sadism, and

¹ The exception to this is "transvestitism", which is listed in the DSM as a paraphilic interest but does not predict sexually aggressive behaviour.

in spite of the connections found between dominance fantasies, hostility towards women, and sexual violence, it is not common for such studies to choose feminist theoretical frameworks or actively include feminist considerations into their methodologies. Of course, notable exceptions exist. I mentioned Emma Fulu's work earlier, another good example I found is a large population-based study conducted by Jewkes et al. (2011) in South Africa, in which the authors studied the prevalence of sexual violence perpetration within a feminist theoretical framework.² Further, some recent studies also suggest a broader reconsideration of much of the research on sexual fantasies which they view as partially outdated: Lindley et al. (2022) find in their study about sexual desire and gender identity that cis-men ad cis-women in their sample were equally likely to fantasize about themselves as givers of sexual pleasure or the dominant partners, and men were just as likely to describe emotional aspects in their sexual fantasies. This causes the authors to reflect that their "results highlight the need to reinvestigate sexual research which relies on outdated gender scripts which might not align with our modern society" (Lindley et al., 2022: 173).

Methodologically, most of the studies cited so far use either factor analysis to observe patterns and/or latent variables or classes in the occurrence of sexual fantasies, behaviours, etc. Alternatively, they use regression analysis or correlation analysis to examine relationships between attitudes, desires, and self-reported behaviours. These statistical methods are useful and effective in the described studies – especially insofar as most of them are located in the disciplinary realm of psychology. However, to foster a more structural and constructivist understanding of sexuality, it seems desirable to explore methods that take seriously the discursive nature of sexual norms. Timothy Luke (so far only available in preprint: see https://osf.io/preprints/psyarxiv/x5jr3) addresses this issue in his methodological

² They specifically omitted the word "rape" in their questionnaire and found that 27.6% of the men that participated in the study reported having coerced a woman into sex at least once in their lives. This leads the authors to the conclusion that while "rape" is largely condemned as unacceptable, most perpetrators of sexual violence simply avoid labelling their actions as "rape", see Jewkes R, Sikweyiya Y, Morrell R, et al. (2011) Gender Inequitable Masculinity and Sexual Entitlement in Rape Perpetration South Africa: Findings of a Cross-Sectional Study. *PLOS ONE* 6(12): DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029590.

criticism of the use of factor analysis for social concepts (in his article specifically rape myth acceptance). He explains that factor analysis assumes common latent variables that cause individuals to answer to items in specific ways. This, however, cannot be taken for granted for a discursive concept like rape myth acceptance: factor analysis in this case would have to assume that there are latent variables (such as the "it wasn't really rape"-attitude or the "the victim must have provoked the assault"-attitude) that individuals possess to different degrees and that cause their responses to specific statements. These latent variables would have no causal relations to each other, but together they would make up the concept of "rape myth acceptance" and thus be measured by a rape myth acceptance scale. These ontological assumptions seem hard to verify (how can we know any of the assumed latent variables exist as independent phenomena? And even if they did, how can we know that this is actually what the scale measures? And if it did, how could we know that it is this underlying psychological entity that *causes* response behaviour?). Luke argues instead that rape myth acceptance should not be interpreted as stable beliefs that can be measured as such at all, but rather as discursive expressions.³ This approach takes seriously the methodological fact that a response to a survey is always reactive and that respondents thus do not necessarily express their authentic beliefs, but rather position themselves in relation to the social discourse about rape myth acceptance. Network modelling provides an analytical approach that is appropriate to this methodological understanding of attitudes as discursive expressions: rather than assuming latent variables, network analysis understands key concepts to emerge from the analysis itself.

Studying Sexual Scripts

Another strand of research my project is drawing on uses the notion of *sexual scripts*. This body of research is diverse in terms of the methodologies it uses, as well as in terms of the role that sexual scripts play in the different studies. In some

³ Similar arguments have been made about a range of different phenomena (see for example Cramer AOJ, Waldorp LJ, van der Maas HLJ, et al. (2010) Comorbidity: A Network Perspective. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 33(2-3): 137-150. for a similar argument about the medical concept of comorbidity).

projects, sexual scripts are understood as attitudes or cognitive structures, similarly to the psychological studies outlined above. Seabrook et al. (2016), for example, launch the Heterosexual Script Scale (HSS) that captures endorsement of traditional gender roles and sexual scripts, but also captures elements of sexualization, objectification, and idealized beliefs about romantic relationships. The authors then link these findings to participants' self-reported consumption of reality TV, arguing that the heterosexual sexual script. Schuster and Krahé (2019) and Krahé and Berger (2023) engage the notion of *risky sexual scripts* containing behaviours like drinking alcohol, communicating sexual needs ambiguously, and engaging in casual sex, and relate these behaviours to prevalence of sexual violence among adolescents. Sakaluk et al. (2014) develop a sexual scripts scale from the qualitative results of focus groups they conduct, thus putting sexual scripts into a mixed-methods research design.

A somewhat different approach are scenario-based methods, in which research participants are confronted with different ways a sexual situation could go (usually still in the format of a survey) and are asked to choose between different courses of action. Krahé et al. (2007) use such a design to study the difference between general sexual scrips (i.e. what people think a typical sexual interaction looks like), personal sexual scripts (i.e. what people think a sexual interaction typically looks like for them), and rape scripts (i.e. what people think a typical non-consensual sexual interaction usually looks like). The researchers found the three kinds of scripts to be distinct, and also found a notable optimistic bias, meaning participants were likely to view their own sexual experiences as more positive than other people's.

There are also some sociological studies that use sexual scripts as an instrumental concept to understand other aspects of sexual behaviour, for example understanding the influence of pornography consumption on sexual violence perpetration (Marshall and Miller, 2023) or pornography use (Bridges et al., 2016) and its relationship to enjoyment of sexual practices (Ezzell et al., 2020) more generally. Further, a number of qualitative studies use the notion of sexual scripts to understand how different kinds of people make sense of their sexual experiences, especially involving sexual violence (French and Neville, 2016; Carroll, 2019), or how the delineation between rape and consensual sex is constructed through sexual scripts (Ryan, 2011). These studies generally take a more constructivist and more feminist approach, and the concept of sexual scripts specifically is used in this context to theorise the collective and discursive nature of sexuality. Similarly, there is a body of sociological and usually feminist literature using the concept of sexual scripts to read cultural material, specifically pornography and the more aggressive or degrading acts portrayed in it (Fritz and Paul, 2017; Vera-Gray et al., 2021). Finally, some studies also use related concepts like *relational scripts* (Senkans et al., 2020) or *rape scripts* (Gunnarsson, 2018; Rousseau et al., 2020).

This more sociological academic discourse about sexual scripts is more methodologically diverse than the psychological literature cited above. It also frequently employs discursive or otherwise constructivist understandings of sexual interests and behaviours, which I wish to mirror in my thesis. Further, the way that *sexual scripts* are used in these studies is diverse: some authors use it as an operational concept to study other phenomena, some use it as a singular entity ("the heterosexual script") that captures a notion akin to hegemonic understandings of sexuality, and others use the idea of "script" in a quite literal sense, to describe different situational courses of action individuals can take or consider normative. I will relay my own understanding of sexual scripts in more detail at a later point, but I take from this review of literature about sexual scripts that it is an advantage of sexual script theory that it lends itself to different interpretations and adaptions, thus opening up space for diverse kinds of studies around the discursive shaping of collective sexual interests and behaviours.

Why Radical Feminism?

Finally, this thesis is a radical feminist project. To frame this choice, I want to draw on Breanne Fahs' recent essay *The Urgent Need For Radical Feminist Thinking Today* (Fahs, 2023). Fahs argues for the need to reconnect to radical feminism as a political movement and way of analysing the social world considering the most recent erosion of feminist political achievements⁴. Radical feminism is hard to define, and it has meant different things to different people at different times. It emerged as a branch of the feminist political movement in the 1960s to 1980s. Fahs argues that to fully understand the radical feminist political impulse, it must be seen as connected to the other radical social movements of the mid 20th century USA, such as radical labour and early civil rights activism. In this context, radical feminism emerged from a dissatisfaction with liberal feminism: while liberal feminism had improved (some) women's lives, it had largely operated within existing political structures. Radical feminists thus called for deeper analysis:

"[...] second wave radical feminism wanted to look at the structural and systemic roots of patriarchy and sexism, with particular interest in how seemingly private experiences (sexuality, the body, spirituality, housework, emotions, the family) connected to broader structures that disempowered women and limited their freedom and autonomy." (Fahs, 2023: 481)

Thus, radical feminism was ultimately about developing a more thorough understanding of patriarchy, targeting a wider range of oppressions, and taking more extreme kinds of public action in favour of women's liberation. At the time, this meant more extreme ways of protest as well as radical feminist community building in the form of (for example) organizing self-defence lessons for women and building shared narratives of oppression in consciousness-raising sessions. In this way, radical feminists established a notion of shared feminist praxis that "reimagined solidarity between movements [and] made space for angry agitators" (Fahs, 2023: 482).

For my project, I am using the theoretical work of Catharine MacKinnon, a US legal scholar who has also engaged in producing radical feminist theory. In her

⁴ Fahs is mostly referencing the overturn of Roe v. Wade 2022 in the USA, which stripped AFAB people in the US of the federal right to abortions. However, I believe that a regression of feminist achievements is also visible in other contexts. To name an example from my own home country: as I am writing this thesis in March and April 2024, the state of Bavaria has just ruled that using gender inclusive languages featuring the signs "*" and ":" is no longer permissible in public schools, see AssociatedPress (2024) *German state of Bavaria bans gender-sensitive language in schools and other public bodies*. Available at: https://apnews.com/article/germany-gender-language-bavaria-change-school-grammar-8a0ae45ebf0134627221382d0bbb0ef0 (accessed 06.05.2024).

book *Toward a Feminist Theory of the State* (MacKinnon, 1989), which I will be referencing as the theoretical point of departure of my thesis, MacKinnon builds an account of patriarchy based on feminist critique of Marxism. Her account centres the sexual submission of women under male dominance as the root of gender as a system of social hierarchy that specifically harms women. This theory has been criticised extensively, most famously by Judith Butler (Butler, 1991; Butler, 1994; Butler, 1997). While I unfortunately do not have the space here to engage in an appropriate discussion of the issues of this debate, I want to mention two interrelated strands of criticism I believe to have detected in Butler's writing and position myself and my project in relation to them.

First, Butler (1994) considers MacKinnon's account "rigid determinism" (Butler, 1994: 7) in the way that it associates sexual submission, sexual victimization, and femininity. Butler argues that, since MacKinnon posits the opposition of sexual dominance and submission as the origin of masculine and feminine gender roles, MacKinnon's theory conceptualises all "female sexuality as coerced submission" (Butler, 1994: 7) and fails to "distinguish the presence of coerced domination on sexuality from pleasurable and wanted dynamics of power" (Butler, 1994: 7). Butler then frames MacKinnon's account as opposed to "the feminist tradition in favor of sexual freedom" (Butler, 1994: 7). I believe that framing radical feminism as opposed to "sexual freedom" is a problematic rhetorical strategy that misrecognises the radical feminist point. MacKinnon's theory does not oppose sexual freedom so much as it calls into question what sexual freedom can even mean in a social system whose institutions, laws, gender roles, cultural narratives, etc. structurally benefit men. MacKinnon does hold that women are structurally harmed by patriarchy (that they are, if you will, "victims"), both in the sense that they are subjected to male violence and in the sense that their own thoughts, desires, and identities are shaped by the patriarchal structures they were socialised in. However, it is precisely MacKinnon's point here that victimization and agency are not mutually exclusive. "Feminism locates the relation of woman's consciousness to her life situation in the relation of two moments: being shaped in the image of one's oppression, yet struggling against it" (MacKinnon, 1989).

Second, Butler addresses the issue of how MacKinnon connects pornography (that is, "text", the narrative, symbolic dimension of sexuality) to material harm done to women (Butler, 1997). According to MacKinnon, there is no distinction to be made between depictions of misogyny and misogyny itself: pornography is in itself harmful and degrading. Butler argues against this account because they disagree that the coupling between speech acts and their social meaning is as direct as MacKinnon seems to suggest, stressing that different words can have different meanings in different contexts, which opens up the important possibility for reclaiming. Thus, according to Butler, MacKinnon's account which directly ties imagery/language to meaning is simplified in a politically harmful way. I somewhat agree with this argument, even as applied to MacKinnon's theory more generally. What I value about her theory is that she takes seriously the meaning of the dynamic of sexual dominance and submission for patriarchy as a sociocultural system. I do believe, however, that the concrete mechanisms of this meaning-making are underdetermined in MacKinnon's account. Exactly how are the individual instances of masculine sexual dominance that many women experience related to broader cultural narratives and shared meanings about masculine dominance? And how are both in turn active in creating gender as a hierarchical binary structure? These connections remain abstract in MacKinnon's theory. To mitigate this issue in my thesis, I will use the theory of sexual scripts.

The criticisms of Judith Butler and other authors have led radical feminism to fall out of favour over time. It is now "one of the most fraught, maligned, and misunderstood segments of the feminist movement" (Fahs, 2023: 479) due to its (as I am trying to argue, false) associations with gender essentialism and sex-negativity. A contribution to this negative image has been the use of the phrase "radical feminism" in the acronym TERF ("Trans Exclusionary Radical Feminist"), which denotes a group of people who hold gender essentialist beliefs that lead them to exclude trans people from feminism among other things (see Fahs, 2023). While there were and are some women who identify as radical feminists and who also advocate for the exclusion of transwomen from women's spaces, this belief has always been marginal within radical feminism, and most academic publications about TERFism acknowledge this (Fahs, 2023; see also Rogers, 2024; Thurlow, 2022; Tudisco, 2023).

Of course, engaging radical feminism in 2024, one must keep in mind the historical context of radical feminism, and the important contributions that have been made to it since its inception. In the current thesis, I am dealing with this issue in several ways: first, I have just contextualised radical feminism historically and discussed some important criticisms that have been formulated against it. Second, I am combining radical feminist theory with sexual script theory to fill in some theoretical gaps and provide a better operationalization. Finally, I will attempt to translate what I value about radical feminism and MacKinnon's theory in particular into a more contemporary language in some places. For example, I will not mostly speak about "women's oppression", but rather about "gender as a hierarchical social structure". I thus align myself with the authors, most prominently Finn Mackay (2015) and now Breanne Fahs (2023), who have made arguments in favour of reconnecting to radical feminism, and this includes rereading the aged original theories and using what is good about them: their boldness, their unwavering stand for the rights of women, and their insistence on the political centrality of the most intimate dimensions of our lives.

THEORETICAL CONCEPTS

Sexual Intercourse in Radical Feminist Theory

This thesis engages a radical feminist approach because radical feminism provides an account of the importance of sex – that is, sexual intercourse – for the hegemonic order of binary gender under patriarchy. It takes sexual intercourse seriously as a domain of gender relations and as a site of meaning-making in which gender as a system of social hierarchy is both expressed and produced. At the centre of this account is the opposition between (masculine) sexual dominance and (feminine) sexual submission, which creates the symbolic repertoire for hierarchical binary gender as a social structure: "The man/woman difference and the dominance/submission dynamic define each other" (MacKinnon, 1989: 113). Patriarchal gender is thus a hierarchical binary defined in sexual terms. Sexuality and gender are mutually constitutive, and sex (meaning sexual intercourse) is at the centre of their dynamic (see MacKinnon, 1989: 113). Men are *socially* dominant over women because they are *sexually* dominant over women.

In the patriarchal configuration of gendered sexual dynamics, men are active, dominant subjects and women are made into passive, submissive objects for male sexual satisfaction (MacKinnon, 1989: 137). This dynamic is reified in sexual interactions where men hold the initiative and women are responsive, where the focus is on men's pleasure and male anatomy, where men are physically or symbolically dominant or inflict force on their partner, where men's needs are naturalised, where consent is implicitly assumed until it is explicitly withdrawn, etc. These could be considered different aspects of sexual intercourse that adhere to patriarchal principles, which is most simply and directly defined by upholding masculine dominance. Such patriarchal sexual encounters thus produce the meaning of gender as a binary social structure so that masculinity is defined by dominance and femininity is defined by submission. Gender as a social structure extrapolates this basic opposition of masculine dominance and feminine submission into all other aspects of the social world.

In this view, gender is a deeply political construct: "[m]ale is a social and political concept, not a biological attribute, having nothing to do with inherency, pre-existence, nature, essence, inevitability, or body as such" (MacKinnon, 1989: 114). Thus, while a critique of phallocentrism is part of radical feminism, the penis is only indirectly, symbolically related to masculinity. It is dominance that defines the patriarchal masculine. The fact that dominance is symbolically related to pene-tration is specifically what is patriarchal about patriarchal sex: penetration symbolizes being dominated and being feminized not because of anything inherent in the physical act, but because the masculine, the dominant, and the phallic are tied together in the patriarchal imaginary. MacKinnon sometimes goes as far as to use the words Male/men/"boy" and Female/woman/"girl" independently of gender identity all together, describing merely the role taken on in the dynamic of dominance and submission:

"What is heterosexuality? If it is the erotization of dominance and submission, altering the participants' gender does not eliminate the sexual, or even gendered, content of aggression. If heterosexuality is males over females, gender matters independently. Arguably, heterosexuality is a fusion of the two, with gender a social outcome, such that the acted upon is feminized, is the 'girl' regardless of sex, the actor correspondingly masculinized" (MacKinnon, 1989: 178-179).⁵

This view provides the basis for a feminist reading of the sexual, including the meaning of rape and its distinction from consensual sex. Radical feminism refuses to conceptualise sex and rape as exclusively disjunct or unrelated concepts because both normative sex under patriarchy and rape are expressions of the same principle of masculine dominance and feminine submission. This distinguishes radical feminism from other feminist theories about rape like that of Susan Brownmiller (1993), according to which the purpose of rape is not sexual, but rather lies in the exertion of power over one's victim. Radical feminism argues that separating violence/rape and sex is precisely missing the point: rape is sexual, and in much consensual sex women (people) are hurt. In the radical feminist understanding, sexual violence is "not the erotization of something else, like dominance; eroticism itself exists in this form" (MacKinnon, 1989: 113). Obviously, the important difference between rape and consensual sex is that in the latter, all parties agree to engage in the sexual encounter. However, if we were to take consent as some kind of ultimate boundary within which all sexuality is equally unproblematic, we would neglect one (or possibly even the most) important domain of gendered social interaction. Thus, sex-positivity is not inherently liberatory, because it tends to depoliticise the sexual. Of course, radical feminism is not in favour of sexual repression. It does, however, demand a critical analysis of "normal" sexual practices. A lot of sex that

⁵ This, then, is how homophobia and transphobia can be understood from a radical feminist perspective: because masculinity means acting upon others, and is symbolically related to penetration, masculinity is threatened by gayness (i.e., by the idea that a masculine person can be penetrated by penis). And because lesbians live a feminine sexuality that is not (or at least not directly) defined by masculine domination, masculine hegemony is threatened by lesbianism. Transgender and nonbinary people in turn pose a threat to the entire system of the gender binary, as they expose its radical constructedness.

cannot (and should not) meaningfully be called rape is at the same time enacting and reinforcing patriarchal norms and can be harmful especially to feminine and feminised people. It is this I am studying in the current thesis: sex that is perfectly normal, sex during which nobody is (overtly) harmed, yet sex that is saturated with patriarchal meanings and dynamics.

Sexual Scripts Theory

To operationalise this notion, I am making use of the concept of sexual scripts. Sexual script theory was first formulated by Simon and Gagnon (1986) to offer a sociological alternative to the deterministic theories of sexuality that were dominant at the time (psychoanalysis and biological explanations (Wiederman, 2015: 10)). According to sexual scripts theory, sexual behaviours, including what makes them sexual, "derive from metaphorical scripts individuals have learned and incorporated as a function of their involvement in the social group" (Wiederman, 2015: 7). Sexual scripts can be seen as a cultural syntax for concrete sexual behaviours, akin to how *langue* (language) relates to *parole* (speech) in functionalist linguistics. To conceptualise the relationship between macro-level cultural narratives and concrete actions, Simon and Gagnon differentiate between sexual scripts on three layers: cultural sexual scripts are large-scale narratives a social group or society holds about sexuality (Wiederman, 2015: 8). They are determined by collective discourses, including but not limited to art and media, societal institutions like monogamy and marriage, and the law. Due to their overarching nature, sexual scripts on this cultural level must be vague and generic so they can be applied in a large array of actual social situations. In such situations, interpersonal sexual scripts (Wiederman, 2015: 8) emerge as a relational concept: individuals interpret, adapt, and improvise based on the cultural material. Finally, sexual scripts exist on an *in*trapsychic, individual level in the form of sexual fantasies and desires (Wiederman, 2015: 8). All three levels are dynamically interrelated: while cultural sexual scripts provide the shared meanings that define certain behaviours, objects, attributes etc. as sexual, they are not accurate predictors of actual behaviour. Rather, sexuality is always subject to spontaneous reinterpretations, innovations, and idiosyncrasies, which in turn shape collective narratives over time. Similarly, individual sexual fantasies are certainly informed by cultural narratives and interpersonal experience, but their relationship to both is not straight-forward, but rather one of constant change and reimagination.

This theory provides an account of how sexual scripts are produced dynamically on different social levels and why they are collective and thus relatively stable, but still dynamic and open to change and reinterpretation at the same time. It is in line with a critical realist account of ontological emergence, according to which the social world is emergent from human interaction yet irreducible to it (Pratten, 2013). What is considered sexual, what sexual encounters and fantasies usually look like, what is normal or desirable to achieve sexually, with whom, and at what age, etc. – all of this is determined by collectively produced scripts and can thus be subjected to political and sociological analysis. This is where radical feminism and sexual script theory can be merged: sexual scripts theory provides an account of the mechanisms through which sexuality is shaped by shared social tropes, and radical feminism can expose these tropes as patriarchal.

METHODOLOGY

Measuring Patriarchal Sexual Scripts

Combining sexual scripts theory and radical feminism, we can assume that there is an inventory of sexual scripts that are specifically patriarchal, i.e., that manifest masculine dominance and feminine submission. These scripts shape expectations and understandings of sexual intercourse both in the sense that they inspire individual sexual fantasy and imagination, and insofar as they inspire how individuals behave and expect each other to behave in concrete sexual interactions. If, for example, you believe that "women have a hard time reaching orgasm", you are likely to behave in ways that align with this belief (e.g., not taking the time to understand your female partner's sexual needs, or, if you are a woman, not communicating your sexual needs clearly because you expect not achieving orgasm anyway). This behaviour might lead people to experience sexual intercourse in which the woman does not have an orgasm, in turn strengthening the belief that "women have a hard time reaching orgasm". Based on radical feminist descriptions of patriarchal sexual intercourse, I have derived the following ten items to capture the notion of patriarchal sexual scripts:

Table I	1: 1	Items as	listed	in t	the survey,	with	explanat	tions, c	and th	eir a	bbrev	viations	in	variable n	ames

Item wording	Explanation	Variable name ⁶
In a romantic situation	This item expresses the implicit assumption of con-	romance
between two people, if	sent in romantic situations: the belief that explicitly	
one person asks the	talking about physical intimacy as it is happening	
other "can I kiss	can take away from the experience may prevent peo-	
you?", that takes away	ple from communicating openly around it, thus po-	
from the romantic		
mood.	provided.	
Most women have a	In the patriarchal gender binary, women and men are	female_orgasm
hard time reaching or-	considered fundamentally different in relation to	
gasm.	sexual arousal and satisfaction, with $AFAB^7$ bodies	
	often being considered more "difficult" than AMAB	
	bodies (Frith, 2015: 48ff), resulting in a phallocentric	
	sexuality that neglects female pleasure - leading to	
	the "orgasm gap" (Wetzel et al., 2022) frequently	
	discussed in popular feminism.	
With heterosexual cou-	This item refers to male sexual dominance in the	missionary
ples, the man is usu-	simple form of men being physically above women	
ally on top of the	during sex.	
woman during sex.		

⁶ To save space, I sometimes chose to abbreviate the items with their variable names, which is why I provide them here.

⁷ The acronyms AFAB ("Assigned Female At Birth") and AMAB ("Assigned Male At Birth") are used here to express the fact that people with clitorises, uteruses, and female endocrine systems are interpreted as more complicated than people with penises. While the terms "AFAB people" and "women" refer to different groups of people, it should be noted that they are not independent: I believe that the sexist stereotype of women being complicated and the perception of AFAB bodies being perceived as more complicated are related in the patriarchal imaginary.

When someone tells me they "had sex", I assume that means pe- nile-vaginal penetra- tion.	This item expresses phallocentrism: sex is defined by penetration (notice also that the concept of penetra- tion itself implies the phallus as subject – it is entirely possible to think of penile-vaginal intercourse as a vagina actively <i>enclosing</i> a penis, but this interpreta- tion is at odds with patriarchal sexuality). This also features a heteronormative understanding of sex, as for lesbian and gay people, sex usually does not include both a penis and a vagina.	piv
In sex, there is usually a more dominant part- ner and a more sub- missive partner.	This item is directly derived from radical feminist theory, for which the dichotomy of (masculine) sex- ual dominance and (feminine) sexual submission is the defining feature of patriarchy per se. It is formu- lated here in a gender-neutral way as according to radical feminism, dominance/submission structures are expressions of the same basic principle regard- less of the gender identity of the people involved.	domsub
It is a biological need for men to release pressure from time to time.	This is a measure of gender essentialism (i.e., the be- lief that men and women are fundamentally differ- ent). It also locates male sexual desire in the realm of biology, thus potentially providing the ideological grounds for excusing male aggression and veiling the social nature of sexual desire.	bio_need
In a heterosexual sce- nario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for exam-	This item expresses the expectation of masculine dominance. It is also a more subtle version of items sometimes found on hegemonic masculinity scales, expressing that men should take the lead in so- cial/sexual situations, and that women should be	male_pace

available to their male partners sexually. Further, it

ple, I expect the man

to introduce tongue into kissing).	relates to MacKinnon's discussion of the asymmetry that exists in patriarchal sexuality between initiative and consent: the notion of consent suggests the choice to agree or disagree to someone's sexual ini- tiative. Even in the ideal, this is different from a re-				
	lation of mutuality.				
I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates.	This expresses the focus on male pleasure in sexual interactions and a phallocentric definition of sexual- ity.	ejaculation			
Having sex during (my or my partner's) men- struation seems off- putting to me.	This statement expresses a devaluation of the natural female body. The item is formulated in a gender-neu- tral way, as some trans and nonbinary people also menstruate, and as for queer women, this item can plausibly refer to both the respondent's and her part- ner's menstruation.	menstruation			
It is awkward to talk during sex.	This item expresses some degree of shame or vulner- ability people feel during sex. It also hints again to the implication of consent, since people who have this conviction are probably less likely to ask for ver- bal consent within a sexual encounter.	awkward			

It should be noted that these scripts are different from sexual fantasies or desires, in that they do not express what an individual *would like to* happen during a sexual encounter. They are also different from rape myth acceptance, as these statements do not relate to non-consensual sex– they are explicitly supposed to capture how individuals see *normal* sex in patriarchal ways. Finally, they don't necessarily measure *endorsement* of patriarchy. A non-sexist (even feminist) individual could believe that women have a hard time reaching orgasm, sexual intercourse is commonly defined as penile-vaginal penetration etc. This captures exactly the radical

feminist conviction that under patriarchy, problematic/coercive sexuality and normative sexuality are not disjunct concepts, and even normative sexuality is determined by patriarchal norms that ultimately favour masculine pleasure and masculine dominance in subtle ways. I believe this scale is unique compared to existing scales in the field. At the same time, the statements are formulated in very generic ways that leave much room for personal interpretation. This is to some degree intended, as it is a characteristic of sexual scripts that they must exist in very unspecific ways (at least on a cultural level) in order to allow for individual use and (re)interpretation in concrete social situations. It is also (not unrelatedly) a practical choice, as this research design needs the statement to be as generic and as simple as possible to enhance the chances of many people filling out the survey.

Note also that people who engage in queer sex probably react differently to these statements than straight people. Since I am not asking for the sexual orientation or queerness of my research participants (see my discussion of limitations of this projects for further discussion), I tried to formulate the items in a way that a queer person could still reasonably answer to the questions: if you are a lesbian, you will probably not agree to the statement "I usually consider a sexual encounter complete when a man ejaculates", simply because there are probably no men present in most of your sexual encounters. Other items are just formulated in a genderneutral way so that they should also be answerable by people of different sexual orientations, gender identities etc. (e.g., "In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner").

Additionally, I decided to include four demographic variables: age [numeric], gender [woman, man, nonbinary, other, prefer not to say], country of residence [choosing from a list of countries], and student status ["Are you currently a university student?" – yes; no]. It was not easy to decide which variables to include here, because there are many factors weighing on this decision: for ethical reasons I chose to avoid collecting any potentially sensitive data related to sexual orientation, queerness, race, etc. However, I did not want to omit demographic data altogether: First, because specifically the age of participants might be a confounding factor which could influence the results of the analysis in unintended ways. Second, due to my open strategy for response-acquisition, it must be assumed that a diverse group of people may have answered my survey, and I wanted to have the possibility to have some idea about the demographics of my data. Third, I wanted the possibility to conduct a gendered analysis of the data. It is neither my goal to "predict" people's answers based on their gender nor to "explain" gender as a result of sexuality in a straightforward way. I merely believe that patriarchal sexual scripts, the way they relate to each other, and the discourse they form, can be analysed in a more nuanced way if the self-identified gender of the participants is taken into account.

Feminism, Statistics, and Network Methodology

Obviously, sexual scripts are difficult to observe or measure. This is in part due to their ontological structure as concepts that emerge through human interaction. Further, there are some practical difficulties associated with studying sexual scripts. For example, if I were to try and access sexual narratives through interviews, it is very likely that my positionality as a woman and a feminist researcher would impact the kinds of narratives respondents are willing to produce in my presence. Further, if I were to research sexual scripts on a discourse analytical level, I would miss the radical feminist point that sexual intercourse as a concrete gendered interaction must be taken seriously as a locus of symbolic production. For these theoretical and methodological reasons, I am conducting a quantitative analysis of survey data in my thesis.

Within the field of feminist epistemology, scientific positivism has long been an object of critique (for a systematic discussion of feminist perspectives on science, see Crasnow, 2020). Feminists have argued that the positivist ideals of aperspectivity and detachment from one's object of knowledge are flawed epistemological ideals (Haraway, 1988) that reflect an androcentric perspective (Keller, 1985). Feminist theorists have instead proposed alternative epistemological approaches like *situated knowledge* (Haraway, 1988) and *epistemologies of connection* (Hill Collins, 1991: 217), that have led many feminists to favour qualitative scholarship. I fully share the feminist critique of scientific rationality and recognize the importance of producing scholarship that valorises the lived experience of marginalised people. At the same time, feminists have argued for the importance of feminist perspectives in quantitative research, and there is a growing body of such research that I want to contribute to (see for example Browne, 2010; Else-Quest and Hyde, 2016; Leung et al., 2019; Criado-Perez, 2019; D'Ignazio, 2020; Heilmann, 2021). Statistical tools can be useful to understand the prevalence and nature of (some) gendered phenomena, as I am hoping to show with this thesis. It also allows feminists to access knowledge that might not otherwise be documented – I believe, for example, that it is more likely for a conservative man to fill in a three-minute survey about sex than to agree to a face-to-face interview with a feminist graduate student. Sometimes, distance from and anonymity of one's research participants is an advantage for feminist scholarship, both in terms of what knowledge can be produced and in terms of the ethical implications of this process (see more below).

Furthermore, I believe that existing androcentrism in quantitative sociology can only be combatted by quantitative feminist scholars. In this vein it should be noted that there are different kinds of statistical methods, that correspond to different methodological and theoretical assumptions, and can be used in different ways. It is one of the explicit goals of my thesis to illustrate this point by employing a theoretically sound statistical analysis to feminist ends. Thus, I will be using network modelling to explore the discursive nature of patriarchal sexual scripts.

Most generally, network analysis is used to capture how the elements of a system – in my case statements about sex, but it could also be people, cities, cells, etc. – are related to each other. Within such a system, the statements are interpreted as nodes (also referred to as vertices) and the connections between the nodes are called edges (see the schematic example in figure 1). Network analysis can then determine which statements form communities ("clusters") of nodes, that will be represented by different colours in my network models (again, see the colours in figure 1, for more details on cluster detection see the section *Methods of Data Analysis*). Specifically, I will be using Gaussian Graphical Models (GGMs), in which edges are modelled after the partial correlations between



items (i.e., the correlations Figure 1: Schematic Network Model

between the two items controlling for all other items in the system). This methodology has recently been popularised in psychology because it provides a more theoretically sound basis for understanding abstract phenomena than similar methods, e.g., factor analysis. The theoretical difference between network and factor models is that factor models reduce the dimensions in a dataset by assuming common causes ("factors") for observed variables, thus simplifying the structure. A prominent example of this are psychological intelligence tests (see McGrew et al., 2023): A factor model would assume that there is an underlying concept ("intelligence") that is objectively existent in peoples' minds and causes different people to reply differently to the items of an intelligence test. This is theoretically very assumptive - what is "intelligence"? How do we know it is a separate entity that exists in peoples' minds? How can we be sure that "intelligence" is actually what causes people to react differently to an intelligence test? These are epistemological issues that cannot be solved by statistical tools themselves but must be accepted as theoretical assumptions about intelligence – and it is assumptions like these through which inequalities tend to sneak into research: if your underlying concept of "intelligence"

is sexist, your intelligence test will produce sexist results, despite its statistical neutrality.

To deal with this issue, network analysis has been proposed as a statistical method that measures similar structures but with less loaded epistemological assumptions. As previously mentioned, Gaussian Graphical Models use partial correlations to conceptualise how related the different elements in a system are to each other. For this purpose, it is not necessary to assume any underlying causes. Instead, the structure of the network captures the relations in the observed system in a genuinely emergent way. Picking up the example of the intelligence test, a network model of intelligence does not assume "intelligence" as an underlying entity that causes you to behave in certain ways. Rather, we might call you "intelligent" *because* of the way you react to the items of an intelligence test: the concept emerges from the observed variables, not the other way around.

In using Gaussian Graphical Modelling, my research design is inspired by Timothy Luke's research (so far only available in see preprint: https://osf.io/preprints/psyarxiv/x5jr3), who conducts secondary network analyses of data from factor analytical studies about rape myth acceptance. He makes the theoretical argument that for measuring attitudes especially, it is not appropriate to assume underlying latent variables like factor analysis does, because this would mean we have to assume some kind of stable belief as an underlying cause of peoples' responses, which we have little reason to. Instead, he argues that network analysis allows us to conceptualise the items of an attitudinal scale as discursive expressions that individuals are momentarily agreeing with in a survey. The network being constructed in this kind of study is thus a network of positions that individuals are currently willing to take in relation to a social discourse. While this approach has been used mainly in psychology - Timothy Luke himself being a social psychologist – I believe that this approach can be especially fruitful in sociological analysis. Its particular strength is that it makes few assumptions about underlying causality and thus provides a quantitative methodological framework that takes seriously the emergent nature of social discourses as represented in individual utterances.

In my thesis, then, I am exploring patriarchal sexual scripts as an emergent concept based on a network of specific kinds of beliefs about sexual intercourse. Since I cannot plausibly assume that there are any underlying entities causing individuals to (dis)agree with statements exemplifying patriarchal sexual scripts, it makes more sense to analyse these statements in a network analytical approach. This is why the ambiguity in the formulation of my items is not a serious threat to my project: If an individual agrees that "women have a hard time reaching orgasm", I ultimately do not care if they do so because they have read about the orgasm gap or because they have unsatisfying sex personally or because they are anxious about not being able to satisfy their female partners. What matters to me is that the individual is willing to reproduce the patriarchal narrative that "women have a hard time reaching orgasm". Then, if I get hundreds of people to indicate their willingness to agree with these statements, I should be able to show an emergent network structure of patriarchal sexual scripts as a discursive formation.

Similarly, it is an advantage of network analysis that the strength of a partial correlation does not depend on whether participants agree or disagree to the correlated items: if people that strongly disagree that "in sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner" also tend to strongly disagree that "in a heterosexual scenario, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex", this suggests a strong partial correlation between the items just as much as it would if the person strongly agreed to both items. This is an advantage especially considering my methods of data collection. As I will explain in the following section of my thesis, I am using methods of data collection that mostly target young people and especially students. While I am not attempting to generalize my results to any larger population, it can still be considered useful that network analysis does not emphasize respondents' total (dis-)agreement with the statements, but rather the relations between item scores.

Methods of Data Collection

I collected an initial sample of N = 1.045 responses to my survey. Since GGMs are a comparatively recent method of sociological analysis, there is relatively little information about how sample size affects such analysis. In psychometrics, it is argued that for networks with small to moderate amounts of nodes (10-30), a sample size of 250 is sufficient (Dalege et al., 2017; Epskamp, 2016). For factor analysis, there are different rules of thumb regarding adequate sample size. Older publications state that 100 is a poor sample size, 200 is acceptable, 300 is good, and 1.000 is excellent (Comrey and Lee, 1992). More recent publications acknowledge the problem of sample size to be much more complex, with some authors recommending an absolute sample size of 400 (Goretzko et al., 2021) while others argue that even small samples can generate good factor solutions based on the factor loadings emergent from the data at hand (de Winter et al., 2009).

The survey was kept concise, with ten items and an additional four questions about basic demographic data (age, gender, country of residence, student status), which means that it took only a few minutes to fill out.⁸ It was possible to skip questions about the patriarchal sexual scripts, but not about the demographic data. To distribute the survey, I used a publicity-oriented strategy, meaning that I made the survey link publicly available and set up no restrictions as to who could fill in the survey (except being over 18 years of age). I mostly attempted to reach university students, because this is a population that is relatively accessible (especially to me as a university student myself), but also opened the survey to the general public to maximise possible respondents. I pursued the following channels of distribution:

- Survey exchange: I linked the survey on SurveySwap (<u>https://sur-veyswap.io/surveys</u>), which is an online platform where users can link surveys and get other users to fill out their survey via a credit system (you collect credit on the site by filling out other uses' surveys, or you can buy credit, which I did not do). I gained a total of 103 respondents through SurveySwap.
- 2) Online student networks: As another strategy of online recruitment, I distributed the survey through different online forums frequented by students. I shared it in the Lund University related Facebook groups "LU International Exchange Students Erasmus Master 2023-2024" (private

⁸ In total, the survey was opened but left incomplete 174 times. Considering that 1.045 respondents did complete the survey, I believe this strategy worked rather well.

group with 5.445 members), Lund Medical Students (private group with 2.453 members) and the general Lund University Students Facebook group (public, 9.739 members). Through this avenue alone I have thus theoretically reached over 17.000 students, although I have no way of knowing how many actual respondents were acquired through this route.

- 3) On campus advertisement: I commissioned 500 flyers (see the designs in appendix figure 1) to be printed and put them up in many Lund University buildings and buildings students enter frequently. Three student nations agreed to let me put up my flyers in their buildings. Additionally, since I am myself a part of Kalmar Nation, I shared the survey in their internal members Facebook chat and hung up a flyer in the student housing building Kalmar Västra. Finally, toward the end of the period in which the survey was public, I distributed the leftover flyers around student accommodations.
- 4) Informal networks/snowball sampling: Finally, I shared the survey on my personal Instagram and Facebook accounts. I received a lot of support in this area, with ten people that I know of (combined following of over 6.700 people) sharing the survey publicly on their social media, and many more people sharing the link in numerous private group chats. I also received word that the survey link was shared on social media by people I do not personally know, meaning that it is impossible for me to follow even approximately how many people the snowball sampling reached.

Methods of Data Analysis

Data Cleaning, Assumption Checks, and Descriptive Statistics

Before conducting the inferential analysis, data was appropriately cleaned by removing any observations with missing values. Further, I detected multivariate outliers by conducting a chi²-test of the Mahalanobis distance. Three observations were thus removed since they appeared not to follow the overall distribution of the data.⁹ According to de Winter et al. (2009), the desired N for satisfactory factor analysis depends on the factor loadings and the numbers of variables and factors in the model. There is no estimation for 10 variables (only for 6 and 12, respectively). In the case of 12 variables and factor loadings no smaller than 4, a sample size of 186 would be necessary for extracting two factors, and a sample size of 353 would be necessary for extracting three factors. For a data set with 6 variables, the sample sizes for two vs. three factors would be 370 and 1.159, respectively. Following this logic, it seems permissible for me to extract two, maybe even three factors (considering that my sample size almost reaches the limit for three factors with 6 variables, and my model includes 10). Multivariate normality was assessed using the chi2-values vs. the Mahalanobis distance plot (see appendix figure 13). Finally, I assessed factorability using the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure for each factor model. All frequency tables of the demographic variables, are documented in the appendix.

Partial Correlations and Regression Analysis

In preparation of the analyses of relational patterns between the items, I report the partial correlations between all ten items, controlling for the demographic variables age, gender, country of residence and student status, as well as for the time the answers were recorded, to account for any potential effects of the respondent acquisition strategy. To analyse the effects of gender and age on respondent's reactions to the items, I build a series of multiple linear regression models predicting each of the ten variables. The first models included only the self-identified gender of participants in the form of a dummy variable, using "woman" as the reference category, the second models additionally include the numeric variable age.

Exploratory Factor Analysis

As mentioned above, factor analysis is a method of dimension reduction to simplify a given dataset and understand its underlying structure. This means it extracts a

⁹ These outliers are by definition observations that differ greatly from the overall distribution of the data. Since it is only three out of over a thousand observations that were outliers in this way, removing them can be assumed to have no serious consequences for the analysis of the data.

number of "factors" or underlying variables so that instead of ten variables there are fewer (in my case two) factors that explain as much as possible of the overall variance in the items. I used maximum likelihood extraction (granted the multivariate normality is mostly unviolated) and varimax rotation to return uncorrelated factors.

Considering the effects of participants' gender on the item scores, I built a series of four different factor models: one initial full model (N = 1.029), two models for women (N = 669) and men (N = 321)¹⁰ respectively, and one binary weighted model (N = 642, containing the 321 men and a random selection of 321 women) to account for the larger number of women in the initial sample.

Exploratory Network Analysis: Gaussian Graphical Models

Network analysis is similar to factor analysis at face value insofar as it simplifies the variance structure of the items in a given dataset to recognize patterns. However, it is quite different on a methodological level: while factor analysis simplifies data by reducing the dimensions of measurement, thus summarizing multiple variables into a common "factor" that is assumed as an underlying cause, network analysis visualises interrelations between the items of a dataset (while filtering out small correlations) and summarizes the emergent structure into communities of nodes, also called "clusters". Gaussian Graphical Models (GGMs) specifically use partial correlation coefficients to build graphical representations of how strongly different variables relate to each other. Thus, each edge of the network represents the correlation between two items controlling for all other items in the network.

In my exploratory network analysis, I fit a weighted, undirected GGM to my data using LASSO regularization to reduce complexity in the model (see Burger et al., 2023; Nitin et al., 2019; Epskamp and Fried, 2018). My R-script includes the following steps¹¹: I computed the partial correlation matrix from the data and regularized it using the graphical lasso algorithm from the *glasso* package. I chose an

¹⁰ Unfortunately, there are not enough nonbinary people or people who chose the gender options "other" or "prefer not to say" for me to conduct separate analyses for these groups.

¹¹ Timothy Luke, whose paper I am using as methodological orientation, uses the *qgraph* package in R. However, this package has since been deprecated, which is why I used the packages *glasso* and *igraph* instead.
appropriate regularization parameter λ in an iterative process based on the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) as well as on the visual appearance of the networks¹²: a bigger λ leads to more regularization, which leads to a smaller – hence, better – BIC (since the BIC penalizes more complex models), but also to fewer edges showing up in the network model. Thus, while too little regularization can make the models hard to interpret and also less precise, too much regularization will suppress relevant edges, thus defeating the point of the analysis. After some iterations, I settled for $\lambda = 0.1$.

I then created an *igraph* object based on the regularized partial correlation matrix, introduced a threshold removing small edge weights (smaller than 0.01) and specified the model to exclude loops (i.e., items' correlations with themselves). Thus, my model can be said to only include non-spurious, significant edges. Further, I used the *fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm* (also from the *igraph* package) to detect the community structure of the networks (Kolaczyk, 2020: 60; Clauset et al., 2004). I then created the visual network models, colouring the nodes according to the previously generated cluster structure and representing edge strength visually through the thickness of the edges. For visualization I used the *Fruchterman-Reingold algorithm*, which is one of the most common tools for visualising network graphs (Kolaczyk, 2020: 32). It is classified as a *spring-embedder* method, which uses the analogy of the relational structure of a network model to physical models, associating vertices with balls and edges with springs.

Finally, I calculated some global as well as node-specific metrics to describe the model in more detail. Globally, I calculated the density of the model (meaning the percentage of possible edges that was realised in the empirical model) and the clustering coefficient (this does not have a straightforward interpretation but can be used to compare the amount of clustering between networks). On the level of

¹² This logic is based on Epskamp S and Fried EI (2018) A Tutorial on Regularized Partial Correlation Networks. *Psychological Methods* 23(4): 617-634., who use the same procedure except that they use the EBIC (extended BIC) rather than the regular BIC. However, the only difference between EBIC and BIC is the inclusion of an additional hyperparameter that controls how much the EBIC favours simpler models. Considering that all of my models only include ten nodes each and thus are not overly complex, I have decided to use the BIC instead, which is the functional equivalent of setting the hyperparameter to zero.

individual vertices, I conducted a centrality analysis using three separate centrality measures: *degree centrality* counts the edges that an individual node borders on. *Closeness centrality* captures how "close" a node is to all other nodes on average (based on the inverted edge weights interpreted as distances). Finally, *betweenness centrality* expresses how important a node is in connecting other nodes by counting on how many shortest paths between other nodes the vertex in question lies. Together, these values of centrality should provide a nuanced analysis of the internal structure of the network.

Similarly to the factor analysis, I repeated this network modelling process for four datasets (one initial full model (N = 1.029) one with only women (N = 669), one with only men (321) and one weighted full model (N = 642). All models are reported on separately and compared in order to uncover gender specific structures in the emergent patterns of patriarchal sexual scripts.

Ethical Statement

Before discussing the results of my analysis, I want to briefly address the issue of research ethics as it applies to this project. Since I am researching sexual scripts which are ultimately societally shared discursive tropes, anyone could potentially be a participant in this project. Thus, it is not necessary for me to collect any sensitive data or any identifying data at all. My methodology was purposefully designed to maximize this advantage, insofar as I took a number of measures to assure my participants' anonymity: the survey did not include any open questions so that participants did not have the opportunity to disclose any personal details (the only field that people had to manually enter data into was the *age*-item, and this was set so that only numbers could be entered). Further, I contacted the administrator of Lund University's survey tool Sunet survey which I used for this project to inquire whether it would be possible in any way or for anyone to access any personal data (such as IP-addresses) from filling out the survey. The administrator assured me that such information could not be extracted by me or the university or any third parties, making the survey completely anonymous. Despite this guaranteed anonymity I chose to keep the data on a non-synchronized, password protected folder on my laptop and a single copy on an encrypted USB drive. Further, I set the limit

from which I could see the responses to my survey to 100, making it impossible for me to track individual responses as they were coming in. I thus believe to have done my due diligence in protecting the anonymity of my research participants as fully as possible.

Informed consent was obtained through a consent form that appeared before the survey when clicking the link (see the form as displayed in appendix figure 2). This form was modelled based on the consent form template provided by Lund University's Graduate School at the Faculty of Social Sciences. It features my name and association with the department of Sociology at Lund University, as well as a short description of my thesis project. It further informs participants that no personal or sensitive personal data is collected in the survey and refers them to Lund University for any inquiries about data processing. While the form was kept in neutral language to not influence the participants' responses, it mentioned that the thesis uses feminist theory, thus informing participants about the kind of project they were engaging in. Further, the flyers I mainly used for recruiting respondents (see appendix figure 1) already introduced possible participants to the project by stating my name, the fact that this survey is part of a master thesis at the department of sociology, and a very brief description of the topic. Participants had the choice to skip items about patriarchal sexual scripts (the demographic data was mandatory to fill out but featured a "prefer not to say" option for the questions about country of residence and gender identity). Finally, I avoided any questions relating to sexual violence in my survey to avoid triggering respondents, and all statements were formulated as generically as possible to make the survey inclusive and accessible to all possible participants (see more about this issue in the limitations section).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

My data collection returned an initial sample of N = 1.045 responses. I removed eleven observations with missing values in the sexual scripts items, as well as two observations where respondents indicated being less than 18 years of age, and three multivariate outliers leaving me with a final sample size of N = 1.029. All demographic frequency tables can be found in the appendix (tables 1–4). About 48.0% (494 people) of my sample indicated currently living in Sweden. The second most frequent country of residence was Germany (192 (18.7%)), followed by Belgium (67 (6.5%)). My survey reached respondents in a total of 42 different countries, with all continents being present at least once. However, most participants (967 or 94.3%) indicated living in Europe. 65.0% of participants indicated identifying as women (669) and 31.2% identified as men (321). Additionally, 27 people indicated identifying as non-binary (2.6%), and 5 people (0.5%) and 7 people (0.7%) selected the gender categories "prefer not to say" and "other", respectively. The majority of participants (763 or 74.1%) were university students at the time of filling out the survey. The age distribution of the data further indicated that most participants were young people: 55.5% (571) were between 21 and 25 years old, and young adults aged 18-30 accounted for 88.3% of the total sample.

Item distributions vary considerably. Participants overwhelmingly disagreed that asking for consent can ruin the mood of a romantic situation and that talking during sex is awkward, and mostly disagreed that they would expect a man to determine the pace of a heterosexual encounter and that they consider a sexual interaction complete with ejaculation. People mostly agreed, on the other hand, that women tend to have trouble reaching orgasm, that "having sex" usually refers to penile-vaginal penetration, that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner during sex, that it is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time, and that men are usually on top in heterosexual encounters. Finally, the item regarding sex during menstruation did not clearly show a tendency of overall agreement or disagreement. All gendered frequency charts can be found in the appendix (figures 3–12).

Partial Correlations

Almost all pairs of items are significantly correlated at the 0.1%-level when controlling for all other items, as well as for answer date/time, country, gender, age, and student status. The only exceptions are the partial correlations between the items "in a romantic situation between two people, if one person asks the other 'can I kiss you?', that takes away from the romantic mood" and "with heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex", as well as "it is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time" and "it is awkward to talk during sex". However, both of these were still significant (p = 0.001 and p = 0.005, respectively). All correlations were relatively small. The strongest correlation (0.33) existed between the items "in sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner" and "In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter", which could be read as an indication that respondents who are likely to associate sex with power dynamics are also likely to view these power dynamics as gendered. The full table of partial correlations can be found in the appendix (table 5).

Regression Analysis

Seven out of ten items were significantly predicted by gender in some way (a full table containing the regression results can be found in appendix table 6). Specifically, people who identified as men were more likely than women to agree that asking for a kiss can ruin a romantic mood, that sex usually means penile-vaginal penetration, that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner in sex, and that it is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time. Men were on the other hand *less* likely than women to agree that women have a hard time reaching orgasm and that they consider a sexual interaction complete with ejaculation.

Nonbinary people were significantly less likely than women to agree that sex usually means penile-vaginal penetration, that men usually determine the pace of a sexual encounter, and that sex usually ends with ejaculation. Further, people who selected the "other" category were also significantly less likely than women to equate sex with penetration, to agree that sexual release is a biological need for men, that men usually determine the pace of a sexual encounter, and that sex usually ends with ejaculation. The fact that the gender categories nonbinary and "other" yield significant effects at all is remarkable considering the small number of such individuals in the dataset. This means that nonbinary people and those who identify as "other" must have unanimously and strongly disagreed with the statements in question. These results suggest that people's willingness to agree to patriarchal sexual scripts is gendered, but not in a straightforward way. While men are more likely than women to agree to four out of ten statements (*romance, piv, domsub, bio_need*), women were more likely than any other gender group to agree that women have a hard time reaching orgasm and that sex is complete at ejaculation. People who identified outside of the binary were significantly less likely to agree with four (three for people who identified as nonbinary specifically) out of the ten items. On the other hand, some items were not significantly gendered in any way: agreeing that men are usually on top of women during heterosex, that sex during menstruation is undesirable, and that talking during sex is awkward is equally distributed across gender categories.

Further, age significantly predicted six out of ten items. With higher age, participants were *less* likely to agree that women have a hard time reaching orgasm, that the man is usually on top of the woman in heterosexual interactions, that sex usually means penile-vaginal penetration, and that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive person during sex. Older people were increasingly *more* likely to agree, however, that asking for a kiss in a romantic situation can ruin the mood, and that it is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time.

Two of the items (*menstruation* and *awkward*) were not significantly predicted by either age or gender. Finally, it should be noted that none of the models built in this analysis have a particularly strong explanatory power (none explained more than 10% of the overall variance in the item). This is not surprising considering the simplicity of the models, but it needs to be kept in mind when interpreting the effects of age and gender on the item distributions.

It should also be noted that due to the high number of regression models and predictors that I have run for this analysis, there might be some issues with multiple hypothesis testing (Lehmann, 2022: 405ff), which increases the risk of generating false positives. However, since almost all relevant *p*-values are smaller than 0.001, we can assume that this is not a severe problem in the current case.¹³

Factor Analysis

Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)

Multivariate normality seemed to be mostly unviolated (see appendix figure 13) The rule of thumb that Eigenvalues be greater than one suggests extracting three factors (see appendix table 7) that cumulatively explain 28.6% of the total variance in the data. The Scree-plot, however (see appendix figure 14) suggests extracting only two factors. Choosing the more conservative of the two indicators, I believe it would be more appropriate to extract only two factors under these circumstances (see the rotated factor matrix in appendix table 8), which together explain 20.8% of the overall variance. According to the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure, factorability was sufficient (KMO = 0.80, the conventional threshold is 0.6).

Factor one in this model was associated with the items *missionary* (loading = 0.54), *domsub* (0.5), and *female_orgasm* (0.41). Combining the notions that men are usually on top of women in straight sex and that sex tends to involve a power imbalance seems to suggest that the underlying factor captures a notion of men's dominance, which it also associates with women's lack of sexual satisfaction.

Factor two is associated with the items bio_need (0.53), romance (0.43), and piv (0.43). This seems to capture a biology-related or even phallocentric idea of sexuality. The romance item might seem slightly less fitting to this theme at face value, but it could be hypothesized that a more biological and less relational/affective view of sex is associated here with discomfort with explicit communication of romantic or sexual desires.

Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)

Again, Eigenvalues were greater than one for the first three factors (see appendix table 9), but the scree-plot indicated the extraction of only two factors (see appendix

¹³ A common method to deal with the issue of multiple hypothesis testing is the Bonferroni-correction of p-values, see Armstrong RA (2014) When to Use the Bonferroni correction. *Ophthalmic Physiol Opt* 34(5): 502-508. However, since most p-values are already low in my case, I have decided not to use this correction here.

figure 15), cumulatively explaining 22.6% of the overall variance. Factorability for this model is provided (KMO = 0.78). Factor one was associated with the items *domsub* (0.58), *missionary* (0.56), and *male_pace* (0.42) (see appendix table 10). Even more clearly than in the full model, the underlying factor seems related to masculine dominance, as all three items are related to the idea of a power dynamic in sex (two of them specifically putting men at the top of this power dynamic).

Factor two was associated with the items *ejaculation* (0.51), *piv* (0.47), *ro-mance* (0.43), and *bio_need* (0.42). Similarly to the initial full model, the second factor seems to capture a notion of sex as biological or phallic (as this includes a focus on ejaculation, penile penetration, and men's biological needs).

Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)

Again, the Eigenvalues were above one for the first three factors (see appendix table 11), but the scree-plot suggested only extracting two factors (see appendix figure 16) that explained a cumulative variance of 23.61%. Factorability was provided (KMO = 0.79). Factor one (see appendix table 12) was associated with the items *piv* (0.50), *male_pace* (0.49), *missionary* (0.46), *domsub* (0.45), and *romance* (0.42). This factor is notably different from the first factor in the initial full model and the model for women only. While it does feature the three dominance-related items, it also features the items related to penetration and asking for a kiss. This could suggest that for people who identify as men, the dominance-related aspects and the biology-related aspects of sexuality are more closely related: Men who define sex as penetration are more likely to think of (themselves or other) men as sexually dominant and are less likely to integrate explicit communication into their idea of romance.

Factor two was associated with the items *ejaculation* (0.47), *menstruation* (0.47), and *awkward* (0.47). This is also quite different from the first two models, as it combines the focus on ejaculation with discomfort around menstruation and communication during sex. It could be hypothesized that this factor captures something like general discomfort with sexuality or sex-negativity: discomfort with talking during sex, discomfort with menstruating bodies, and not wanting to engage in sexual activities once one has reached orgasm. Another possible interpretation

could be that this factor is related to male homosexuality, in that gay men are probably likely not to want to engage with the idea of having sex with a menstruating person, and that in sex between two people with penises it might make more sense to consider sex done with ejaculation.

Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)

Again, the Eigenvalues suggested extracting three factors (see appendix table 13), but the scree plot only suggested extracting two (see appendix figure 17), explaining 25.19% of the overall variance. Factor one (see appendix table 14) was associated with the items *domsub* (0.53), *male_pace* (0.51), *piv* (0.51), *missionary* (0.47), and *bio_need* (0.45). This factor combines the dominance related elements, and the biology/penis related elements present in the other factor structures, suggesting there is ultimately one underlying belief in something like phallic dominance.

The second factor was only associated with the item *female_orgasm* (0.98). It seems quite surprising that this item seems to express its own separate concept. This suggests that although the notion that women tend to lack sexual satisfaction is related to the ideas of sexual power imbalance for women, this is not true regardless of gender.

Factor Analysis Summary

Masculine dominance and the biological nature of sexuality appear as underlying factors in the initial as well as the women's model. In the men's model, the first factor seems to combine these two elements, thus capturing something like phallic dominance, i.e. combining a focus on penile penetration with masculine sexual dominance. Further, there is a factor expressing discomfort around sex in the men's model only. Finally, in the binary weighted model, the item about women's orgasm constitutes its own factor. Thus, the central concepts influencing peoples' response behaviours seem to be masculine dominance (for men especially combined with a phallocentric focus), a biological view of sex, sexual discomfort and (lack of) women's pleasure, as well as one large factor combining masculine dominance and phallocentrism.

Network Analysis

Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)

In the network built from the initial full dataset, approximately 46.7% of all possible edges are realised, the clustering coefficient is 0.45, and the BIC = 167.63. A comparison of all network model metrics can be found in appendix table 19. The network shows three clusters as depicted both in the network graph in figure 2 and table 2. This structure is similar to the factor structure revealed in the previous analysis in that the items *missionary*, *domsub*, and *female_orgasm* (cluster/factor 1), and *bio_need*, *piv*, and *romance* (cluster/factor 2) are grouped together, respectively. However, there are some notable differences: in the network analysis, the items *male_pace* and *ejaculation* are also grouped into the first cluster.

Cluster 1	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu- lates."
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."
Cluster 2	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration."
	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."
Cluster 3	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me."
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."

*Table 2: Clustering Structure of the Initial Full Network Model (*N = 1.029*)*

Extraction: fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm

Further, the items *menstruation* and *awkward* emerge as a third cluster that is especially far removed from the rest of the network. The centrality analysis yields that for this model, the items *piv* and *ejaculation* are especially central¹⁴: *piv* has the highest degree centrality of the network, which means that it is connected to more items than any other one item. *Ejaculation* on the other hand has both the highest closeness centrality and the highest betweenness centrality. This means that it is especially important in connecting other items to each other – for example, agreeing that sex usually means vaginal penetration and agreeing that women have a hard time reaching orgasm seems to be mediated by considering sex to end with ejaculation.



Figure 2: Initial Full Network Model (N = 1.029)

¹⁴ A table including all centrality measures for all models can be found in appendix table 19.

Within this model, none of the three dominance-related items seems to be especially central (except for the *male_pace* item, which does have comparatively high scores on all three centrality measures). However, they are all three strongly interconnected, and they do also show strong connections to several other items, especially *female orgasm, ejaculation*, and *piv*.

Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)

In the model including only people who identify as women, 51.1% of all possible edges are realised, the clustering coefficient is 0.55, and the BIC is 171.77, thus indicating a slightly worse fit than the initial model. The clustering structure is depicted in fig. 2 and table 3. Again, there are some differences and some similarities compared to the factor analysis of the same dataset. What both analyses have in common is that for the subset of women, the three dominance related items appear as a distinct cluster.

Cluster 1	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me."
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."
	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."
Cluster 2	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration."
	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates."
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."
Cluster 3	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to de- termine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I ex- pect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more sub- missive partner."
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."

Table 3: Clustering Structure of Gendered Model 1 (Women only, N = 669)

Extraction: fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm



Figure 3: Gendered Network Model 1 (Women, N = 669)

The grouping of the other two clusters is, however, notably different from the results of the factor analysis. The second cluster includes the items *ejaculation*, *piv*, and *female_orgasm*. In the factor analysis, the items *ejaculation* and *piv* were instead grouped together with the items *bio_need* and *romance* – which the network analysis can explain to some degree: in the network, all five items are spatially relatively close together, but we can see that romance is not directly related to the items *ejaculation*, *female_orgasm* and *piv*, but that instead its connection to these items is mediated by the item *bio_need*: individuals who are uncomfortable with romantic communication are likely to also have a phallocentric view on sex only if they also associate sex with biology. Thus, the relational pattern as visible in the network model returns genuine connections between the items *ejaculation*, *fe-male_orgasm*, and *piv*. Taken together, the statements that sex ends with ejaculation, that women tend to have a hard time reaching orgasm, and that sex is defined by penetration seem to capture a biological and more precisely phallic focus of sexuality. In this sense it is understandable that the belief that sexual release is a biological need for men is closely connected to this cluster. However, it is related to the belief that women have a hard time reaching orgasm only through the item about penetration: women who agree that sex is a biological need for men are only also likely to agree that women have a hard time reaching orgasm if they associate sex with penetration.

The third cluster groups together the items *menstruation*, *awkward*, *ro-mance*, and *bio_need*. However, the items in this cluster are all comparatively far apart from each other and are only transitively related to each other. This might suggest that rather than showing a genuine third cluster, this structure captures the remaining items that are less central to the overall network. Specifically, the items menstruation and romance are only intermediately related to other nodes outside the third cluster, making them apparently less relevant to the model.

The centrality analysis for this model reveals that the item *ejaculation* is the most central one: While it has the same degree centrality as four other items, it has both the highest closeness centrality and the highest betweenness centrality. This means it is both central in the sense that it is relatively close to all nodes of the network and in the sense that it mediates a lot of relations between other node pairs. Thus, women who agree that sex is usually complete when a man ejaculates tend to show more willingness overall to reproduce patriarchal sexual scripts – and the focus on ejaculation seems more influential to their overall agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts than other factors such as their belief in masculine dominance or their implicit assumption of consent.

Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)

In the model I built from the dataset only including people who identified as men also, 51.1% of possible edges were realized, and the clustering coefficient was 0.47, indicating slightly less clustering than in the model of women. The BIC was 154.85,

meaning the model fit was slightly better than that of the previous two models. Again, the network model revealed a different relational structure from the factor model: In the factor solution, there is one big factor which includes the items *piv*, *male_pace*, *missionary*, *domsub*, and *romance*. It should be noted especially in comparison to the network model that the item *bio_need*, which is spatially closely connected with the items of this factor in the network, is not included in the factor. Further, the structure that this factor captures is split into two clusters in the network analysis: one cluster includes the items *male_pace*, *bio_need*, and *romance*, and the second cluster includes the items *piv*, *domsub*, and *missionary*, as well as the item *female orgasm*.

Cluster 1	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."
	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration."
Cluster 2	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."
Cluster 3	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me."
	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu- lates."
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."

Table 4: Custering Structure of Gendered Model 2 (Men only, N = 321)

Extraction: fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm





These relational patterns are notably different from the structures in the full and women's models: In the women's model, the three dominance related items and the three biological/phallic items were grouped together respectively. In this model, the items *missionary* and *domsub* are grouped together with the items *female_orgasm* and *piv*, while the *male_pace* item is in a different cluster with the items *bio_need* and *romance*. This suggests that people who identify as men connect the different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts somewhat differently than those who identify as women. The connections between the items *male_pace*, *bio_need*, and *romance* seem to suggest something like masculine initiative as a common theme: men are seen to have a natural sex drive and they are assumed to determine the pace of a

sexual encounter. Further, the belief that asking for a kiss in a romantic situation might also be associated with masculine initiative in the sense that if a man believes that asking for a kiss can ruin the moment, he might be inclined to just initiate the action under the implicit assumption of consent unless specified otherwise.

The second cluster features especially strong connections between *female_orgasm* and *missionary*, as well as between *missionary* and *piv*. This cluster seems to portray something like "standard" sex, conservative sex, or heteronormative sex, in that it associates penetration with the missionary position (the man lying on top of the woman) and with a power imbalance – albeit less strongly. In this context it is also interesting that the item *male_pace* (the third item related to sexual dominance) is quite strongly related to the *missionary* item, but not to the *domsub* item – this correlation is only mediated through the missionary item.

Finally, the statements that sex during menstruation is off-putting, that talking during sex is awkward, and that sex usually ends with ejaculation form a third cluster. This might be assumed to capture something like general discomfort with sexuality: the belief that sex usually ends with ejaculation (especially for men) might indicate a somewhat instrumental understanding of sex, which is complemented by discomfort with talking about sex openly and discomfort with the menstruating body.

Centrality analysis reveals that for men, the item *male_pace* is most central to the network according to all three measures. Thus, the belief that men are expected to determine the pace of a sexual encounter through showing initiative is especially indicative of men's overall agreement with patriarchal sexual scripts. Here it might also be possible that men – since they are the subject of this statement – read *male_pace* less as an expression of masculine dominance and more of a statement about gendered expectations that they feel obliged to meet in the context of a sexual encounter.

Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)

The binary weighted model includes all men as well as an equal number of randomly selected women to account for the bigger number of women in the initial



*Figure 5: Binary Weighted Model (*N = 642*)*

sample. This excludes people who identify outside of the gender binary. The number of these participants is too small to build an interpretable network model, which is why we must stick to the tentative regression analysis as explained above. In the weighted model, 46.7% of all possible edges are realized and the clustering coefficient is 0.41, which is the smallest out of all the models. The BIC is 157.9. In this model, most of the items are part of one big cluster (*dom-sub*, *male_pace*, *piv*, *missionary*, *bio-need*, and *romance*), which is also in line with the factor analysis (where the first factor includes all of these items except for *romance*). This includes most of the items that were clustered into the different groups relating to masculine dominance, focus on male pleasure, assumption of male initiative, and conservative sex into one big group, which can be taken as evidence that – despite gendered differences in how this is configurated – many aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts seem to largely work together as a coherent narrative. Further, within this cluster, two substructures can be visually distinguished based on the spatial distance between the nodes. In this subgrouping, the three dominance related items *domsub*, *missionary*, and *male_pace* emerge as a strongly related triad. The other triad consists of the items *bio_need*, *piv*, and *romance*. This integrates the focus on biology/phallic pleasure with the connotation of male initiative.

Cluster 1	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."		
	<i>bio_need</i> "It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressur to time."			
	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration."		
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."		
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."		
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."		
Cluster 2	fjaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu- lates."		
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."		
Cluster 3	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."		
	menstriation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me."		

Table 5: Clustering Structure of Binary	Weighted Model	(N = 642)
---	----------------	-----------

Extraction: fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm

The items *menstruation* and *awkward* are spatially distinct from the rest of the group, which has been a tendency throughout all models. Interestingly, the items *ejaculation* and *female_orgasm* are similarly differentiated from the rest of the model, forming their own cluster. This cluster is obviously orgasm-themed, explicitly relating the focus on male sexual release with the lack of female sexual release.

Further, the centrality analysis shows that the item *male_pace* is most central to the network in terms of all three centrality measures. Thus, overall, when controlling for the overrepresentation of women in the original dataset, the expectation that a man usually determines the pace of a sexual encounter is the best indicator of agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts – it is connected to most other items, it is the closest to all other items on average, and it is structurally important in mediating many other interrelationships between nodes.

Network Analysis Summary

Overall, there are four loosely defined and interrelated themes that figure differently throughout the different models. The first and most consistent theme seems to be related to *sexual discomfort*. It integrates the expressed dislike of engaging sexually with menstruating bodies and the expressed awkwardness of talking during sex. Depending on the model, there are also more items related to the theme. People who identify as men tend to also associate this with the belief that sex is complete at ejaculation, which fits into the idea of discomfort: men who consider sex done with men's (maybe meaning their own) orgasm might have an instrumental view of sex as something that leads to the goal of sexual release but that you do not want to overly indulge in or talk about. People who identify as women on the other hand tend to associate with this theme the idea that asking for a kiss can ruin a romantic mood and that sex is a biological need for men. This is interesting because the statements that talking during sex is awkward and that asking for a kiss can ruin a romantic mood are only grouped together like this in the women's dataset (I was expecting these items to always be closely related as they both express discomfort with talking). Thus, men apparently rate talking differently in situations they consider sexual vs. situations they consider romantic, which seems to not be such a salient distinction for women. Women further associate sexual discomfort with a naturalized masculine sex drive, which could indicate that women who locate sexuality more in the realm of the biological/natural are more likely to be uncomfortable with talking about or during it. However, I want to stress again that these items for women are not very closely related, which means that the coherence of this cluster should not be overrated.

The second emergent theme relates to *sexual pleasure*, specifically orgasm, and penetration. In the binary weighted model, this encompasses only the

statements that most women have a hard time reaching orgasm and that sex usually ends with ejaculation. It further involves the idea that sex is defined by penetration specifically for people who identify as women, which associates penetrative sex with a focus on men's pleasure.¹⁵ This cluster is also especially relevant for women since the item ejaculation is the most central one in their model, thus suggesting that the degree to which a woman understands sex as instrumental to men's pleasure is the best indicator of her overall agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts within the model. For men, this theme includes the statements that women have a hard time reaching orgasm, that sex is defined as penetration, that men are usually on top of women during sex and that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner, but *not* the idea that sex usually ends with ejaculation. Thus, men seem to associate women's lack of sexual satisfaction most with penetration, the missionary position, and a dominance/submission dynamic – which might be called a "conservative" and heteronormative understanding of sexual intercourse.

The third theme relates directly to *men's sexual dominance* through the three items stating that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner during sex, that men usually determine the pace of a sexual encounter, and that men are usually on top of women during sex. It is especially distinct in the women's network and does not appear as an interconnected triad in the men's dataset, indicating that a discursive focus on masculine dominance might be perceived as more salient by women than by men.

The fourth theme seems the least clearly defined and combines themes of *men's initiative* and the *naturalization of sexual desire*. This theme emerges most clearly in the men's data where it connects the naturalization of (men's) sex drive with the expectation that men determine the pace of their sexual encounters, as well as the statement that asking for a kiss can ruin a romantic mood.

The centrality analysis further shows that men determining the pace of sex (in the binary full model as well as for men specifically) and the focus on men's

¹⁵ This could also be hypothesized to be related to sexual orientation, such that women who engage in sex with men are more likely to define sex as penetration and also more likely to agree that they think of sex in terms of men's orgasms, and a lack of women's orgasms.

orgasm (in the initial full model as well as for women specifically) emerge as the most central statements in the data. This might be taken to indicate that in women's views, patriarchal sexuality is described best by its focus on men's pleasure. For men on the other hand, this is not salient in the same way. For them, the expectation of men's leadership or initiative regarding sexuality seems more central.

DISCUSSION

Gendered Patriarchal Sexual Scripts and the Case for Radical Feminism

These findings can provide a sketch of gendered interpretations of patriarchal sexual dynamics and thus sharpen the radical feminist idea that gendered sexual dynamics are at the core of patriarchal gender roles. Sexual script theory stipulates that sexual scripts act as collective orientations for sexual behaviour (see Wiederman, 2015). If, as the current findings suggest, men and women adhere to sexual scripts differently, this might provide conditions for heterosexual interactions that reify patriarchal sexual norms: within my sample, women tend to centre men's pleasure in their approach to sex, measuring the success of a sexual encounter by the man's orgasm and not expecting to achieve orgasm themselves. Further, while women in my sample are generally not more likely than other people to agree to the three dominance-related items, masculine sexual dominance does emerge as a distinct theme in women's agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts. This suggests that at least some women experience or expect their male sexual partners to assume dominant roles during sex, which might again shape how they behave in sexual encounters, thus reifying women's tendency to take on submissive roles during sex (with men).

For the men in my sample, on the other hand, sexual dominance does not emerge as a coherent theme. Rather, their agreement with patriarchal sexual scripts tends to focus on the one hand on the expectation of them to determine the pace of the sexual encounter, along with a strong tendency to naturalise their sexual desire, and on the other hand on an idea of "conservative" or "standard" sex, which takes place in the missionary position, is defined by penetration and hierarchy, and lacks female orgasm. The fact that men in my sample associate the expectation of male leadership in sex specifically with the biological nature of men's sexual desires and the fear that asking for consent in a romantic situation might ruin the mood could indicate that men might not interpret masculine leadership as related to dominance structures but rather as a natural part or consequence of their sexual desires or as an expectation that they have to fulfil. In this sense, men might not think of masculine dominance as something they impose on women or that they actively engage in, but rather something that is expected of them or happens to them. According to these gendered tropes, we can easily hypothesise how hierarchical sexual dynamics could be reified in heterosexual encounters: if women might enter heterosexual encounters with a focus on male pleasure and the expectation of male dominance, and men might enter sexual encounters experiencing their desires as a biological need and anticipating leading the pace of the encounter, it seems likely that the resulting encounters might reify masculine leadership and favour men's needs over women's.

Further, I want to highlight that the gendered differences in relation to masculine sexual dominance can be interpreted as an epistemological effect. As described above, the three dominance-related items emerge as an interconnected triad for women in my dataset but not for men. This is epistemologically interesting insofar as radical feminism highlights women's experience as a central source of knowledge of patriarchal power structures (see for example MacKinnon, 1989: 89). If women might tend to see men's sexual dominance as a salient structure within patriarchal sexual scripts and men might not, this could be indicative of women's specific standpoint which enables them to see these structures: maybe, women isolate men's dominance as a discursive theme because they *experience* masculine dominance in a way that men might not. This could suggest a feminist epistemological point about the lived experience of patriarchal sexuality: men, who tend to inhabit sexually dominant roles and whose desires and needs appear central, tend not to express these power dynamics.

These insights can be useful in revisiting Judith Butler's critique of radical feminism as a theory of "rigid determinism" (Butler, 1994: 7) that interprets "female sexuality as coerced submission" (Butler, 1994: 7). My analysis has suggested that it might be women rather than men who centre men's sexual desire in heterosexual intercourse. Thus, phallocentric sexuality might less be something that women are confronted with as an independent oppressive reality, but women might rather play an active role in producing these dynamics. However, I believe that we should not take women's agency in this context as a justification of the status quo. Rather, I would suggest in line with radical feminist theory that this is precisely the social mechanism through which patriarchal sexual structures are reproduced. The internalization of patriarchal prescriptions about sexuality and women's sexual agency are not mutually exclusive.

In this context, I believe that the concept patriarchal sexual scripts as a combination of radical feminist theory and sexual script theory is specifically useful. It suggests a theorization of the intermediate step between patriarchal socialization and concrete sexual behaviour, opening up the theoretical space for individual differences in how much patriarchal discourse one internalizes and how this is enacted in real-life situations. Thus, I believe that my thesis can be seen as a theoretical and methodological contribution to academic discussions around radical feminism. Radical feminism has been criticised as determinist, epistemologically absolute, and simplifying the relations between discourse and material harm (see Butler, 1991; Butler, 1994; Butler, 1997). Sexual script theory can help to clarify some of these points and strengthen the radical feminist account through empirical research: the relation between gender, patriarchal socialization, and hierarchical sexuality is not direct or deterministic, but might rather be mediated by the internalization and reproduction of patriarchal sexual scripts. Of course, this mediation process is complex, and I have only explored a very specific element of it in a nongeneralizable way. Much future research is needed here to understand the mechanisms at hand: what factors influence the internalization of patriarchal sexual scripts (i.e., how important is the influence of media and pornography consumption, gendered socialization within families, at school, etc.)? How connected is the agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts to sexual behaviour? How (if at all) do gendered sexual scripts contribute to shaping large-scale discourses about gender and gender roles?

Finally, these findings can contribute to the broader context of literature on attitudes about sex. Some studies in the field have found that dominance- or aggression-related sexual fantasies tend to correlate with rape-prone attitudes (Bartels and Gannon, 2009), hostility towards women (Bartels et al., 2020), and even self-reported sexually aggressive behaviour (Bondü and Birke, 2021b). Similarly, Rape Myth Acceptance has been linked to sexist attitudes (Balezina and Zakharova, 2023; Nyúl and Kende, 2023). Patriarchal sexual scripts are not conceptually equivalent to dominance related sexual fantasies or rape myths, and further research is needed to determine the specific relations of agreement to any other attitudes or behaviours. However, in light of these studies, I believe it could be hypothesized that adherence to patriarchal sexual scripts (i.e., conceptualising sexual intercourse in dominance-related terms) might also bear some relations to sexual fantasies, gender related attitudes, and potentially sexual behaviours.

Thus, I believe that studying patriarchal sexual scripts is relevant for sexual violence prevention. More specifically, we could hypothesise some dynamics leading to this connection based on my data: I see one potential link between patriarchal attitudes and the violation of sexual boundaries in the differing expectations with which men and women might enter sexual encounters. If women really tend to focus on male pleasure, this might make it hard for them to articulate their own needs and boundaries, putting them at risk for violation of said boundaries. Further and more importantly, if men really tend to believe in the expectation of their leadership, the naturalness of their desires, and the potential negative effects of explicit communication in romantic situations, this might lead some men to operate under an assumption of sexual boundaries. Of course, these are very tentative interpretations, but I believe they spark some potential starting point for more research about the dynamics of sexual violation.

At the same time, within my data there seem to be some hopeful results in terms of sexual violence prevention. The two items that relate to communication in romantic and sexual situations were both met with overwhelming disagreement: most people in my sample do not believe that asking for consent can "ruin the mood" or that communication during sex is awkward. While I cannot generalize my findings to any larger population, I do see some evidence in my data that people endorse open communication, which can be assumed to lower the risk for sexual boundary violations (see for example Krahé and Berger, 2023: who list ambiguous communication as a risk factor for sexual violence).

Reflections on Network Analysis

As we have seen, network modelling allows for more nuanced interpretations than factor analysis or regression analysis alone. The clustering structure, the visualizations of connections in the network in the form of edges, the spatiality of the nodes, as well as the centrality analysis all provide different kinds of information of the data at hand. I have extracted the clustering structure of the individual models and described the four overarching themes: sexual discomfort, asymmetrical sexual pleasure and phallocentrism, masculine dominance, and naturalization of men's initiative.

The fact that Network Analysis doesn't only extract clusters but also visualizes relations between nodes that do not belong to the same structure has added more nuance to this analysis and allowed us to interpret relations between items beyond the cluster structure: for example, we have seen that in the women's model, the three dominance related items form a distinct cluster. While this is not the case for the men's data, we can still see that the dominance-items are somewhat closely related¹⁶.

Further, the networks provide the visual element of spatiality that can also be interpreted. For example, I have argued that in the women's network, the four most marginal items are clustered together probably at least to some degree due to their shared distance from the network rather than due to their mutual closeness.

¹⁶ More specifically, the statement that men determine the pace of a heterosexual encounter is closely related to the statement that men are usually on top of women during sex, which is in turn closely related to the idea that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner during sex. Thus, the item featuring the missionary position can be said to mediate the relation between the other two items, which could be interpreted as an indication that dominance is not the defining theme here: the "missionary" item might be read more as an indication of conservatism than an indication of domination.

Finally, centrality analysis has allowed us to identify the most important individual items withing the different networks. We have thus seen that the beliefs that men usually determine the pace of heterosexual encounters and the belief that sex is usually complete at ejaculation are specifically indicative of participants' overall agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts.

At the same time, this richness of information can be considered a disadvantage of Network Analysis: since all connections between nodes can in principle be interpreted, deciding which connections to focus on becomes a challenging and value-laden choice. I have pursued a reading of the network structures that makes sense in the context of radical feminist theory – but this is obviously one of many interpretations I could have developed from the data.

Further, network analysis both allows and forces the researcher to set many parameters of the analysis manually. The edge-weights as displayed in the model are determined based on the partial correlation matrix through applying *lasso* regularization (Epskamp and Fried, 2018; Burger et al., 2023; Nitin et al., 2019). This requires a regularization parameter, which I have set based on several iterations of adjusting the parameter and comparing the BICs of the different models. This is an established logic for determining the regularization parameter (Epskamp and Fried, 2018) which ultimately leaves it up to the researcher to determine the amount of regularization in the model. Similarly, I have chosen the algorithms for visualization and community detection. These decisions have been grounded in methodological literature (especially Kolaczyk, 2020), but they could have been made differently and it would have resulted in visually different models. Finally, the same applies to the colour palettes for the cluster visualization and for the thickness of the edges as a visual representation of their weights.

This can be considered problematic, as it leaves much of the model construction up to the researcher: most of my findings are based on the interpretation of the network models and the community structures that emerge from them. Thus, the fact that the appearance of these models is largely determined by my own methodological choices might open me up to epistemological criticism. However, methodological choices are crucial to all research projects, and I have cited the methodological literature that I have based these choices on throughout the project. Further, it could even be argued that this is an advantage of Network Analysis: the regularization, visualisation, and clustering algorithms that I have used in this project have allowed me to generate models from my data that can adequately and vividly display the structures I have found and wanted to highlight.

A central benefit of Network Analysis in the current context is that it assumes no causality and no latent variables, but only relies on the partial correlation matrix as derived from the data itself (Luke, preprint). This makes network analysis a particularly elegant method as it creates much nuanced information based solely on correlation analysis. It is also theoretically appropriate for the analysis of discursive statements like patriarchal sexual scripts, which do not need to be assumed as distinct psychological or social entities in this analysis. Rather, the items can be taken at face value as the tendency of research participants to (dis)agree with a particular statement capturing one aspect of patriarchal sexual scripts in the context of an anonymous survey.

However, the meaning of the clustering structure is not necessarily easy to interpret. I have used the *fast greedy modularity optimization algorithm* of the R package *igraph*. This algorithm divides a graph into smaller communities of nodes based on the property of modularity, which "measures when a connection is a good one, in the sense that there are many edges within communities and only a few between them" (Clauset et al., 2004: 1-2; see also Kolaczyk, 2020). However, to translate this very technical understanding into a conceptual interpretation has been challenging, and there remains some methodological doubt about the conceptual soundness of the clusters.

Further, there is some debate about the dynamic nature of network models and the concepts that emerge from them (Kirschbaum, 2019). Timothy Luke (preprint) thus introduces a longitudinal element to his study, which I was not able to do here due to the confines of this project. This obviously limits my analysis to a temporary snapshot of people's response behaviour. Exploring the stability of patriarchal sexual scripts could be an interesting approach for future research.

To sum up my reflections on network analysis, I believe that this methodology has both advantages and disadvantages. Despite its difficulties in interpretation and its openness to different decisions on the part of the researcher, I believe that it has convincing benefits: it is theoretically appropriate to analyse complex sociological phenomena without making any assumptions about latent variables or mechanisms of causality, and it has allowed for a complex open reading of gendered interpretations of patriarchal sexual dynamics.

Further Limitations and Perspectives for Future Research

Having already discussed some of the methodological limitations related to network analysis, I want to briefly address some further shortcomings of the current project. First, there are some limitations associated with the construction of the questionnaire, relating both to the formulation of items and to the inclusion and exclusion of demographic variables. My first consideration in this process was the ethics of my project: because we are dealing with opinions about sex, which is a sensitive subject, I wanted to protect the anonymity of my research participants at all costs. This means that I do not have any information about participants' sexual orientation or sexual minority status. For the reconstruction of patriarchal sexual scripts itself, I think this can be excused since narratives can be agreed or disagreed with regardless of personal experience or preference – queer people can still share and believe in and act accordingly to heteronormative sexual scripts¹⁷. However, it might thus be an interesting point of departure for future research to investigate further how belonging to different sexual identity groups influences one's agreement with patriarchal sexual scripts.

Further and related to this first point, I tried to formulate the items in the most general way possible to make it as accessible for as many people as possible. I am aware that it is a suboptimal solution, and it has also been brought to my

¹⁷ It has also been brought to my attention that this applies to people of different sexual experience levels as well.

attention that despite the openness of the formulations, they are not universally applicable to all experiences of sexuality. For example, the item "having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me" does not properly apply to many gay men. In my logic, a gay man would have just agreed to this statement, but that would mean he would score highly on the scale for this item, when really his agreement has little to do with the patriarchal sexual script itself. Thus, the problem with the menstruation item is that it is not general enough, because it is formulated in a way that does draw on the respondents' desire in sexual partner. Similarly, it is to be expected that there might be many different experiences of sexuality (also and explicitly different sociocultural specificities) that my analysis does not capture. To mitigate this, a more complicated process of constructing the questionnaire might help: in future research, a similar questionnaire might be piloted with a large number of people from different backgrounds with the option for qualitative feedback in order to widen the range of experiences the questionnaire can capture.

Similarly, the items do not reference sexual violence in any way to avoid negative emotional reactions from participants. It might be interesting to study violence-related attitudes in future research, although this would be very close to the study of rape myths, about which a body of research already exists (see for example Balezina and Zakharova, 2023; Bohner et al., 2017; Dawtry et al., 2019).

I have no control over how respondents interpreted the items. This problem is to some degree unavoidable with attitudinal questionnaires and to some degree intended due to the general nature of sexual scripts. However, it does need to be seen as a limitation of the project because it can cause some doubt about the interpretation of the results. If, for example, participants without my knowledge interpreted the items in a normative way (instead of "in a heterosexual scenario, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex", "I believe that men *should* be on top of women during sex"), that might have influenced peoples' answers to the questionnaire. This issue is to some degree mitigated by my discursive understanding of the data: I am interested in whether individuals are willing to reproduce patriarchal narratives, regardless of their motivation. However, it must be acknowledged as a source of uncertainty in my dataset. It is stated in the consent form that "[t]he project is exploring sexual scripts, that is beliefs about what normal sexual encounters look like. For this purpose you will be asked to agree or disagree with statements that reflect beliefs about sex in general, but not about your personal experiences or tastes." (see appendix figure 2). While I had written this both as an informative statement and as a hint as to how to understand the items (i.e., the items are meant in a general and descriptive way, not normatively or personally), it has been brought to my attention that some items could be read to directly reference personal taste (again, "Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me" can be cited as an example). Additionally, in the list of countries to choose from in the *country of residence* variable, the USA are missing. Since this has not been the analytical focus of my thesis, I believe it is rather inconsequential.

Secondly, there are some limitations relating to my sample. The sample I have collected is not random, meaning the findings generated in this project cannot be generalised to a larger population. Further, the sample is asymmetrical in some ways (most but not all people are young, most but not all people live in Sweden, most but not all people are students). I mostly chose an open and somewhat informal sampling strategy to assure I would get enough respondents for my analysis – a strategy that worked: the fact that over a thousand people filled out the survey is obviously a big success and I believe it does mitigate the issues related to my sampling strategy to some degree. However, repeating a similar analysis with a more general sample might be very interesting. Especially relating to the analysis of the influence of age, the current data set can only generate very limited results.

Thirdly, there are some concerns about the statistical analysis. I have already discussed some shortcomings of network analysis in the previous section and will thus not further discuss them here. However, it needs to be mentioned additionally that I am interpreting the answer categories in my dataset as continuous variables, which is strictly speaking not permissible. This interpretation is extremely common, which is why I chose to employ it here as well. It does, however, need to be listed as a limitation of this kind of analysis.

CONCLUDING SUMMARY

The current thesis has explored gendered patterns in agreement with different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts using Gaussian Graphical Models of data collected in an anonymous survey. Four interrelated themes have been discovered: sexual discomfort, asymmetrical pleasure and phallocentrism, masculine dominance, and naturalized masculine initiative. These themes figure differently across gendered subgroups of the data, with masculine dominance being especially salient for women and naturalized masculine initiative being especially salient for men. The use of Network Analysis has proven useful to construct this nuanced interpretation of gendered patterns in agreement with patriarchal sexual scripts, despite some methodological difficulties of this method of data analysis.

This thesis has developed the notion of patriarchal sexual scripts from radical feminism and sexual script theory. Radical feminism holds that sexual intercourse under patriarchy is defined by the dynamic of (masculine) sexual dominance and (feminine) sexual submission, and that this dynamic constitutes the ideological basis for large-scale gender inequality through gendered socialization. Sexual script theory holds that what is considered sexual and sexually desirable is shaped through social discourses which are expected to inform individual desires and behaviour. Combining sexual script theory and radical feminist theory, we can assume patriarchal sexual scripts, i.e., sexual scripts that are shaped by patriarchal norms favouring men's dominance.

Based on this concept I developed a questionnaire featuring ten items that express different aspects of patriarchal sexual scripts and collected a final sample of 1.029 responses to this questionnaire. The data was subsequently analysed using descriptive statistics, regression analysis, correlation analysis, factor analysis, and network analysis, with a focus on the network analysis.

The analysis has discovered that agreement to patriarchal sexual scripts within the sample is gendered, but not in a straightforward way: men in the sample were more likely than women to agree that asking for a kiss can ruin a romantic mood, that sex means penetration, that sexual release is a biological need for men, and that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner during sex. Women in the sample were on the other hand more likely than any other group to agree that women have a hard time reaching orgasm and that sex is usually complete at ejaculation. Further, nonbinary people in the sample are less likely than women to agree that sex is defined by penetration and that they usually consider sex complete at ejaculation. The strongest partial correlation between all items over all appeared between the statements that men usually determine the pace of a sexual encounter and that there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner during sex, which might indicate that individuals who think of sex as shaped by power dynamics tend to put men on the top of such dynamics. The factor analysis and network analysis returned similar factor/community structures, from which I extracted four overarching themes that are differently configurated in the gender specific datasets: sexual discomfort, asymmetrical pleasure and phallocentrism, masculine dominance, and masculine initiative. Among these themes, masculine dominance seemed specifically defined in the women's model, while naturalized masculine initiative seemed more pronounced for men.

These findings can be taken to bring more nuance to the radical feminist idea that sexual relations under patriarchy are defined by masculine dominance and that this is formative to gender as a hierarchical social system. While for women, the centring of men's pleasure and masculine dominance might emerge as salient themes within patriarchal sexual scripts, men might not tend to distinguish these themes in the same way. For them, a naturalized view of men's initiative, a conservative phallocentric view of "standard" sex, and discomfort with sex might seem more important. Thus, we might hypothesise that heterosexual interactions which are guided by these gendered interpretations of sexual scripts could favour men's needs over women's and reify masculine sexual dominance without men perceiving this dynamic as such.

My thesis project can thus strengthen the radical feminist idea that patriarchal socialization and women's sexual agency are not mutually exclusive. It can further be seen as a methodological contribution to feminist quantitative sociology. I have used Network Analysis specifically to integrate radical feminist theory with quantitative sociology, thus exploring an innovative approach to telling a story with quantitative data and putting very technical methods of data analysis in the service of producing feminist knowledge.

APPENDIX

Bibliography

- Abrams D, Viki GT, Masser B, et al. (2003) Perceptions of Stranger and Acquaintance Rape: The Role of Benevolent and Hostile Sexism in Victim Blame and Rape Proclivity. *Journal of personality and social psychology* 84(1): 111-125.
- Armstrong RA (2014) When to Use the Bonferroni correction. *Ophthalmic Physiol Opt* 34(5): 502-508.
- AssociatedPress (2024) German state of Bavaria bans gender-sensitive language in schools and other public bodies. Available at: <u>https://apnews.com/article/germany-gender-language-bavaria-change-school-grammar-</u>8a0ae45ebf0134627221382d0bbb0ef0 (accessed 06.05.2024).
- Balezina M and Zakharova S (2023) Measuring Attitudes Towards Rape in Russia: Translation and Validation of the Illinois Rape Myths Acceptance Scale. *Current Psychology* 43: 4611–4621.
- Bartels RM and Gannon TA (2009) Rape Supportive Cognition, Sexual Fantasies and Implicit Offence-Scripts: A comparison Between High and Low Rape Prone Men. *Sexual Abuse in Australia and New Zealand* 2(1): 14-20.
- Bartels RM, Harkins L and Beech AR (2020) The Influence of Fantasy Proneness, Dissociation, and Vividness of Mental Imagery on Male's Aggressive Sexual Fantasies. *Journal of interpersonal violence* 35(3-4): 964-987.
- Bartels RM and Harper CA (preprint) *An Exploration of the Factor Structure of Gray et al.'s Sexual Fantasy Questionnaire*. Available at: <u>https://osf.io/xgrbc/?view_only=</u> (accessed 06.05.2024).
- Baur E, Forsman M, Santtila P, et al. (2016) Paraphilic Sexual Interests and Sexually Coercive Behavior: A Population-Based Twin Study. Archives of sexual behavior 45(5): 1163-1172.
- Begany JJ and Milburn MA (2002) Psychological Predictors of Sexual Harassment: Authoritarianism, Hostile Sexism, and Rape Myths. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity* 3(2): 119-126.
- Bohner G, Rees J, Eyssel F, et al. (2017) Looking for Blame: Rape Myth Acceptance and Attention to Victim and Perpetrator. *Journal of interpersonal violence* 32(15): 2323-2344.

- Bondü R and Birke J (2021a) Links Between Aggressive Sexual Fantasies and Presumably Non-Consensual Aggressive Sexual Behavior when Controlling for BDSM Identity. *International Journal of Conflict and Violence* 14: 1-18.
- Bondü R and Birke JB (2021b) Aggression-Related Sexual Fantasies: Prevalence Rates, Sex Differences, and Links With Personality, Attitudes, and Behavior. *Journal of Sexual Medicine* 18(8): 1383-1397.
- Bridges AJ, Sun CF, Ezzell MB, et al. (2016) Sexual Scripts and the Sexual Behavior of Men and Women Who Use Pornography. Sexualization, Media & Society 2(4): 1-14.
- Browne K (2010) Queer Quantification or Queer(y)ing Quantification: Creating Lesbian,
 Gay, Bisexual or Heterosexual Citizens through Governmental Social Research.
 In: Browne K and Nash CJ (eds) *Queer Methods and Methodologies. Intersecting Queer Theories and Social Science Research.* New York: Ashgate, pp.231-250.

Brownmiller S (1993) Against Our Will: Men, Women, and Rape. Fawcett Books.

- Burger J, Isvoranu A-M, Lunansky G, et al. (2023) Reporting Standards for Psychological Network Analyses in Cross-Sectional Data. *Psychological Methods* 28(4): 806-824.
- Butler J (1991) Disorderly Woman. Transition.(53): 86-95.
- Butler J (1994) Against Proper Objects. *Differences: A Journal of Feminist Cultural Studies* 6(2/3): 1-26.
- Butler J (1997) Sovereign Performatives in the Contemporary Scene of Utterance. *Critical Inquiry* 23(2): 350-377.
- Carroll E (2019) "*Was It Good For You? Is It Good for Us?": Implications of Sexual Scripting for Pleasure and Violence*. PhD Thesis. The Ohio State University. Available at: <u>http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=osu1563287501358132</u> (accessed 06.05.1997).
- Clauset A, Newman MEJ and Moore C (2004) Finding Community Structure in Very Large Networks. *Phys. Rev.* DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevE.70.066111.
- Comrey AL and Lee HB (1992) *A First Course in Factor Analysis*. New York: Psychology Press.
- Cramer AOJ, Waldorp LJ, van der Maas HLJ, et al. (2010) Comorbidity: A Network Perspective. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 33(2-3): 137-150.
- Crasnow S (2020) Feminist Perspectives on Science. In: Zalta EN (ed) Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Availabe at: <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/feminist-science/</u> (accessed 06.05.2024).
- Criado-Perez C (2019) Invisible women: Exposing Data Bias in a World Designed for Men. London: Vintage.

D'Ignazio C (2020) Data Feminism. Cambridge: The MIT Press.

- Dalege J, Borsboom D, van Harreveld F, et al. (2017) Network Analysis on Attitudes: A Brief Tutorial. *SOCIAL PSYCHOLOGICAL AND PERSONALITY SCIENCE* 8(5): 528-537.
- Dawtry RJ, Cozzolino PJ and Callan MJ (2019) I Blame Therefore It Was: Rape Myth Acceptance, Victim Blaming, and Memory Reconstruction. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 45(8): 1269-1282.
- de Winter JC, Dodou D and Wieringa PA (2009) Exploratory Factor Analysis With Small Sample Sizes. *Multivariate Behav Res* 44(2): 147-181.
- Else-Quest NM and Hyde JS (2016) Intersectionality in Quantitative Psychological Research. *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 40(3): 319-336.
- Epskamp S (2016) Brief Report on Estimating Regularized Gaussian Networks from Continuous and Ordinal Data. Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1606.05771</u> (accessed 06.05.2024).
- Epskamp S and Fried EI (2018) A Tutorial on Regularized Partial Correlation Networks. *Psychological Methods* 23(4): 617-634.
- Ezzell MB, Johnson JA, Bridges AJ, et al. (2020) I (Dis)Like it Like That: Gender, Pornography, and Liking Sex. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy* 46(5): 460-473.
- Fahs B (2023) The Urgent Need for Radical Feminism Today. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society* 49(2): 479-497.
- French BH and Neville HA (2016) What Is Nonconsensual Sex? Young Women Identify Sources of Coerced Sex. *Violence Against Women* 23(3): 368-394.
- Frith H (2015) Complicated Women, Straightforward Men. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Fritz N and Paul B (2017) From Orgasms to Spanking: A Content Analysis of the Agentic and Objectifying Sexual Scripts in Feminist, for Women, and Mainstream Pornography. Sex Roles 77(9): 639-652.
- Fulu E, Warner X, Miedema S, et al. (2013) Why Do Some Men use Violence Against Women and How Can We Prevent it? Quantitative Findings from the United

Nations Multi-Country Study on Men and Violence in Asia and the Pacific. Available at: <u>https://www.undp.org/asia-pacific/publications/why-do-some-men-use-violence-against-women-and-how-can-we-prevent-it</u> (accessed 11.01.2023).

- Goretzko D, Pham TTH and Bühner M (2021) Exploratory Factor Analysis: Current Use, Methodological Developments and Recommendations for Good Practice. *Current Psychology* 40(7): 3510-3521.
- Gunnarsson L (2018) "Excuse Me, But Are You Raping Me Now?": Discourse and Experience in (the Grey Areas of) Sexual Violence. NORA - Nordic Journal of Feminist and Gender Research 26(1): 4-18.
- Haraway D (1988) Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective. *Feminist Studies* 14: 575-599.
- Hasson R and Ginzburg K (2024) The Development and Psychometric Evaluation of the Sexual Fantasy Experience Scale. Archives of sexual behavior. DOI: 10.1007/s10508-023-02794-1.
- Heilmann L (2021) Making a Case for Feminist Statistics: How Commonly Used
 Quantitative Approaches in Adult Education Research Marginalise and
 Oversimplify Diverse and Intersectional Populations. *European Journal for Research on the Education and Learning of Adults* 12: 179-191.
- Hill Collins P (1991) Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment. New York: Routledge.
- Jewkes R, Sikweyiya Y, Morrell R, et al. (2011) Gender Inequitable Masculinity and Sexual Entitlement in Rape Perpetration South Africa: Findings of a Cross-Sectional Study. PLOS ONE 6(12): DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029590.
- Joyal CC and Carpentier J (2017) The Prevalence of Paraphilic Interests and Behaviors in the General Population: A Provincial Survey. *Journal of Sex Research* 54(2): 161-171.
- Joyal CC and Carpentier J (2022) Concordance and Discordance between Paraphilic Interests and Behaviors: A Follow-Up Study. *Journal of Sex Research* 59(3): 385-390.
- Joyal CC, Cossette A and Lapierre V (2015) What Exactly Is an Unusual Sexual Fantasy? *The Journal of Sexual Medicine* 12(2): 328-340.
- Keller EF (1985) Reflections on gender and science. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Kirschbaum C (2019) Network Analysis: Emergence, Criticism and Recent Trends. *RAUSP* Management Journal 54(4): 533-547.

- Kolaczyk ED (2020) *Statistical Analysis of Network Data with R.* Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Krahé B and Berger A (2023) Scripts for Consensual Sex as Risk Factors for Sexual Aggression: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study with University Students in Germany. *Women's Health* 19: DOI: 10.1177/17455057231213269.
- Krahé B, Bieneck S and Scheinberger-Olwig R (2007) Adolescents' Sexual Scripts: Schematic Representations of Consensual and Nonconsensual Heterosexual Interactions. *The Journal of Sex Research* 44(4): 316-327.
- Larue D, Schmidt AF, Imhoff R, et al. (2014) Validation of Direct and Indirect Measures of Preference for Sexualized Violence. *Psychological Assessment* 26: DOI 10.1037/pas0000016.
- Lehmann EL (2022) *Testing Statistical Hypotheses*. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Leung L, Miedema S, Warner X, et al. (2019) Making Feminism Count: Integrating Feminist Research Principles in Large-Scale Quantitative Research on Violence Against Women and Girls. *Gender & Development* 27(3): 427-447.
- Lindley LM, Anzani A, Prunas A, et al. (2022) Sexual Fantasy Across Gender Identity: a Qualitative Investigation of Differences between Cisgender and Non-Binary People's Imagery. *Sexual & Relationship Therapy* 37: 157-178.
- Luke T (preprint) *Rape Myth Acceptance as Networks of Discursive Expressions*. Available at: <u>https://osf.io/preprints/psyarxiv/x5jr3</u> (accessed 06.05.2024).
- Łyś AE, Bargiel-Matusiewicz K, Krasuski T, et al. (2023) Psychometric Properties of the Polish Updated Illinois Rape Myth Acceptance Scale. *Current Psychology* 42(1): 445-459.
- Mackay F (2015) Radical Feminism. Feminist Activism in Movement. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- MacKinnon C (1989) *Toward a Feminist Theory of the State*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Marshall EA and Miller HA (2023) The Role of Sexual Scripts in the Relationship Between Pornography Use and Sexual Coercion. *Journal of interpersonal violence* 38(7-8): 5519-5541.
- McGrew KS, Schneider WJ, Decker SL, et al. (2023) A Psychometric Network Analysis of CHC Intelligence Measures: Implications for Research, Theory, and Interpretation of Broad CHC Scores 'Beyond g'. *Journal of Intelligence* 11(1): 19-19.

- Nimbi FM, Galizia R, Fontanesi L, et al. (2023) Sexual Desire and Erotic Fantasies Questionnaire: Validation of the Erotic Fantasy Inventory Scale (SDEF3) in Italian Adults. *Healthcare (2227-9032)* 11(6): DOI: 10.3390/healthcare11060880.
- Nitin B, Florian M, Daniel S, et al. (2019) Using a Gaussian Graphical Model to Explore Relationships Between Items and Variables in Environmental Psychology Research. *Frontiers in Psychology* 10: DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01050.
- Nyúl B and Kende A (2023) Rape Myth Acceptance as a Relevant Psychological Construct in a Gender-Unequal Context: The Hungarian Adaptation of the Updated Illinois Rape Myths Acceptance Scale. *Current Psychology* 42(4): 3098-3111.
- Pratten S (2013) Critical Realism and the Process Account of Emergence. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour* 43(3): 251-279.
- Rogers BA (2024) TERFs Aren't Feminists: Lesbians Stand Against Trans Exclusion. Journal of Lesbian Studies 28(1): 24-43.
- Rousseau C, Bergeron M and Ricci S (2020) A Metasynthesis of Qualitative Studies on Girls' and Women's Labeling of Sexual Violence. Aggression and Violent Behavior 52: 10.1016/j.avb.2020.101395.
- Ryan KM (2011) The Relationship between Rape Myths and Sexual Scripts: The Social Construction of Rape. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research* 65(11-12): 774-782.
- Sakaluk JK, Todd LM, Milhausen R, et al. (2014) Dominant Heterosexual Sexual Scripts in Emerging Adulthood: Conceptualization and Measurement. *The Journal of Sex Research* 51(5): 516-531.
- Schuster I and Krahé B (2019) Predictors of Sexual Aggression Perpetration Among Male and Female College Students: Cross-Cultural Evidence From Chile and Turkey. Sexual Abuse: Journal of Research and Treatment 31(3): 318-343.
- Seabrook RC, Ward LM, Reed L, et al. (2016) Our Scripted Sexuality: The Development and Validation of a Measure of the Heterosexual Script and Its Relation to Television Consumption. *Emerging Adulthood* 4(5): 338-355.
- Senkans S, McEwan TE and Ogloff JRP (2020) Conceptualising Intimate Partner Violence Perpetrators' Cognition as Aggressive Relational Schemas. *Aggression and Violent Behavior* 55: 10.1016/j.avb.2020.101456.
- Simon W and Gagnon JH (1986) Sexual Scripts: Permanence and Change. Archives of sexual behavior 15(2): 97-120.
- Thurlow C (2022) From TERF to Gender Critical: A Telling Genealogy? *Sexualities*. DOI: 10.1177/13634607221107827.

- Tudisco JJ (2023) The Failure of Cis Feminism: Trans-Exclusionary Radical Feminism in Academia. *TSQ: Transgender Studies Quarterly* 10(3/4): 508-526.
- Vera-Gray F, McGlynn C, Kureshi I, et al. (2021) Sexual Violence as a Sexual Script in Mainstream Online Pornography. *British journal of criminology* 61: 1243-1260.
- Wetzel GM, Cultice RA and Sanchez DT (2022) Orgasm Frequency Predicts Desire and Expectation for Orgasm: Assessing the Orgasm Gap within Mixed-Sex Couples. Sex Roles: A Journal of Research 86(7-8): 456-470.
- Wiederman MW (2015) Sexual Script Theory: Past, Present, and Future. In: DeLamater J and Plante RF (eds) *Handbook of the Sociology of Sexualities*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.7-22.

List of Figures and Tables in the Main Text

Figure 1: Schematic Network Model	24
Figure 2: Initial Full Network Model (N = 1.029)	41
Figure 3: Gendered Network Model 1 (Women, N = 669)	43
Figure 4: Gendered Model 2 (Men, N = 321)	46
Figure 5: Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)	48

Table 1: Items as listed in the survey, with explanations, and their abbreviations in variable	;
names	18
Table 2: Clustering Structure of the Initial Full Network Model (N = 1.029)	40
Table 3: Clustering Structure of Gendered Model 1 (Women only, N = 669)	42
Table 4: Custering Structure of Gendered Model 2 (Men only, N = 321)	45
Table 5: Clustering Structure of Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)	49

Flyer Designs

Appendix Figure 1: Flyer Designs for Survey Distribution



Consent Form

Appendix Figure 2: Consent Form as Displayed Before Survey

≣	# / Survey / A Network Apxual Scripts	/ Preview				**				÷	Ragna Lou Heyne 💄 🗸	?
		Back	Show consent	Select page	Screen Desktop	Change orientation	Paper Survey	Survey overview	Hide toolbar			
i) Previ	2W											
	Consent to participate in a Mast	er Thesis	at the Faculty	of Social Sci	ences							
	I agree to participate in the master thesis	"A Network	Approach to Un	derstanding Sex	ual Scripts".							
	This is a student thesis written by Ragna	Heyne at th	e department of s	ociology at Lund l	Jniversity, in t	he context of the	graduate program	M.Sc. Social Studies	of Gender.			
	The project is exploring <i>sexual scripts</i> , the reflect beliefs about <i>sex in general</i> , but no tropes about sexuality relate to each othe	at is beliefs ot about you r within a fe	about what norma Ir personal experie minist theoretical	I sexual encounte ences or tastes. Th framework.	ers look like. F his data will be	or this purpose y e used to build a	ou will be asked to network model to u	agree or disagree wit understand how differe	h statements that ent discursive	t		
	This survey is anonymous. You will only	y be asked	about demographi	c data that does r	not directly ide	entify you (e.g., a	ge), and there are r	no open questions.				
	To make sure that this survey is accessib violence.	le and safe	for everyone, the	questions are not	specific to an	y gender or sexu	al orientation and t	here are no direct refe	erences to sexual			
	This survey contains a completion code for	or SurveyS	vap.io.									
	Information on the processing o	f person	al data									
	No personal data will be processed. No	o sensitive	personal data wi	II be processed.	We do not sh	are your data wi	th third parties.					
	Lund University, Box 117, 221 00 Lund, S	weden, with	n organisation nur	nber 202100-3211	is the control	ller. You can find	Lund University's p	rivacy policy at www.l	u.se/integritet			
	You have the right to receive information about the personal data we process about you. You also have the right to have inaccurate personal data about you corrected. If you have a complaint about our processing of your personal data, you can contact our Data Protection Officer at dataskyddsombud@lu.se. You also have the right to lodge a complaint with the supervisory authority (the Data Protection Authority, IMY) if you believe that we are processing your personal data incorrectly.											
	I am 18 years or older and agree to partic	ipate in the	master thesis "A I	Network Approac	ch to Underst	tanding Sexual	Scripts".					
	⊗ I refuse								✓ I Agre	e		

Supporting Tables and Figures

Descriptive Statistics Demographic frequency tables

Appendix Table 1: Frequency Table Countries of Residence

Country of Resi-	Fre-	Percent
dence	quency	
Angola	1	0.1
Armenia	1	0.1
Australia	5	0.5
Austria	23	2.2
Belgium	67	6.5
Bosnia & Herze-	4	0.4
govina		
Brazil	2	0.2
Canada	6	0.6
China	8	0.8
Croatia	1	0.1
Czechia	1	0.1
Denmark	17	1.7
Ecuador	1	0.1
Finland	4	0.4
France	7	0.7
Germany	192	18.7
Greece	16	1.6
Hungary	14	1.4
India	5	0.5
Indonesia	1	0.1
Ireland	2	0.2
Italy	16	1.6
Jamaica	1	0.1
Japan	2	0.2
Lithuania	2	0.2
Namibia	1	0.1
The Netherlands	33	3.2
North Macedonia	8	0.8

Norway	1	0.1
Pakistan	4	0.4
Poland	1	0.1
Russia	4	0.4
Serbia	2	0.2
Singapore	2	0.2
Slovakia	1	0.1
South Africa	2	0.2
Spain	9	0.9
Sweden	494	48.0
Switzerland	5	0.5
Ukraine	2	0.2
United Arab	2	0.2
Emirates		
United Kingdom	45	4.4
Vietnam	2	0.2
other/prefer not	12	1.2
to answer		
Total	1029	100.0

Gender	Frequency	Percent
woman	669	65.0
man	321	31.2
non-binary	27	2.6
prefer not to say	5	0.5
other	7	0.7
Total	1029	100.0

Appendix Table 2: Frequency Table Gender

Appendix Table 3: Frequency Table Student Status

Student status	Frequency	Percent
Student	763	74.1
Non-student	266	25.9
Total	1029	100.0

Appendix	Table	4: Frequency	Table Age (5	Year
Bins)				

Age	Frequency	Percent	
Under 20	107	10.4	
21-25	571	55.5	
26-30	230	22.4	
31-35	53	5.2	
36-40	23	2.2	
41-45	7	0.7	
46-50	8	0.8	
51-55	14	1.4	
56-60	11	1.1	
60 +	5	0.5	
total	1029	100.0	

Gendered Item Distributions

I chose to display the gendered item distributions as numbers (not percentages) for readability.



Appendix Figure 3: Gendered Distribution of "romance"

Appendix Figure 4: Gendered Distribution of "female_orgasm"





Appendix Figure 5: Gendered Distribution of "missionary"

Appendix Figure 6: Gendered Distribution of "piv"



300 250 200 Count gender_simple 150 woman 100 man non-binary 50 other/prefer not to say 0 strongly disagree neutral strongly agree disagree agree In sex, there is usually a more dominant partner and a more submissive partner.

Appendix Figure 7: Gendered Distribution of "domsub"

Appendix Figure 8: Gendered Distribution of "bio_need"





Appendix Figure 9: Gendered Distribution of "male_pace"

Appendix Figure 10: Gendered Distribution of "ejaculation"





Appendix Figure 11: Gendered Distribution of "menstruation"

Appendix Figure 12: Gendered Distribution of "awkward"



Correlation Analysis

Appendix Table 5: Partial Correlations of all Items Controlling for Each Other, as well as answer date/time, country, gender, age, student status

		ro- mance	female_ orgasm	missionary	piv	domsub	bio_need	male_pace	ejaculation	menstrua- tion	awkward
tomance	Correla-	1.0	0.114	0.099	0.250	0.174	0.240	0.221	0.199	0.106	0.168
	tion										
	Sig (2-		<0.001***	0.001**	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)										
	Df	0	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022
female_or-	Correla-		1.0	0.240	0.203	0.237	0.111	0.132	0.241	0.028	0.117
gasm	tion										
-	Sig (2-			<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)										
	Df		0	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022
missionary	Correla-			1.0	0.240	0.296	0.163	0.287	0.123	0.138	0.152
	tion										
	Sig (2-				<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailes)										
	Df			0	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022
piv	Correla-				1.0	0.294	0.299	0.244	0.275	0.147	0.113
	tion										
	Sig (2-					<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)										
	Df				0	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022
domsub	Correla-					1.0	0.248	0.328	0.230	0.165	0.147
	tion										
	Sig (2-						<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)										
	Df					0	1022	1022	1022	1022	1022
bio_need	Correla-						1.0	0.266	0.220	0.128	0.087
	tion										

	Sig (2-				<0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***	0.005**
	tailed)							
	Df			0	1022	1022	1022	1022
male_pace	Correla-				1.0	0.294	0.194	0.197
-	tion							
	Sig (2-					0.001***	<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)							
	Df				0	1022	1022	1022
ejaculation	Correla-					1.0	0.174	0.235
	tion							
	Sig (2-						<0.001***	<0.001***
	tailed)							
	Df					0	1022	1022
menstrua-	Correla-						1.0	0.254
tion	tion							
	Sig (2-							<0.001***
	tailed)							
	Df						0	1022
awkward	Correla-							1.0
	tion							
	Sig (2-							
	tailed)							
	Df							0

p < 0.05*, p < 0.01**, p < 0.001***

control variables: answer date/time, country, gender, age, student status

Regression Analysis

Appendix Table 6: Results of Linear Regression Analysis Predicting all ten items Based on Gender (model 1) and Age and Gender (model 2)

Item (dependent variable)	Model	Adj. R-	Model sig.	Predictor	Unstandar-	Std. error	Standar-	t	р
		Square			dized B		dized β		
In a romantic situation,	1 (gender	0.029	<0.001***						
if one person asks the	only)			constant	1.86	0.040		46.677	<0.001***
other 'can I kiss you?',				Men	0.359	0.070	0.159	5.125	<0.001***
that takes away from the				Nonbinary	-0.378	0.202	-0.058	-1.869	0.062
romantic mood.				other	-0.288	0.391	-0.023	-0.736	0.462
				Prefer not to say	0.541	0.463	0.036	1.169	0.243
	2 (gender and	0.037	<0.001***						
	age)			Constant	1.495	0.122		12.287	<0.001***
				Men	0.346	0.070	0.154	4.964	<0.001***
				Nonbinary	-0.390	0.201	-0.060	-1.937	0.053
				other	-0.261	0.390	-0.021	-0.669	0.504
				Prefer not to say	0.473	0.461	0.031	1.026	0.305
				age	0.014	0.005	0.097	3.167	0.002**
Most women have a	1 (gender	0.043	<0.001***						
hard time reaching or-	only)			constant	3.490	0.039		88.578	<0.001***
gasm.				Men	-0.475	0.069	-0.211	-6.860	<0.001***
				Nonbinary	-0.379	0.200	-0.058	-1.895	0.058
				Other	-0.633	0.387	-0.033	-1.635	0.102
				Prefer not to say	-0.49	0.457	-0.33	-1.072	0.284
		0.056	<0.001***						

	2 (gender and			Constant	3.930	0.120		32.728	<0.001***
	age)			Men	-0.460	0.069	-0.205	-6.681	<0.001***
				Nonbinary	-0.364	0.199	-0.056	-1.834	0.067
				Other	-0.666	0.385	-0.053	-1.73	0.084
				Prefer not to say	-0.409	0.455	-0.027	-0.899	0.369
				age	-0.017	0.004	-0.118	-3.872	<0.001***
With heterosexual cou-	1 (gender only)	0.002	0.200						
ples, the man is usually				constant	2.907	0.040		72.603	<0.001***
on top of the woman				Men	0.121	0.070	0.054	1.717	0.086
during sex.				Nonbinary	0.167	0.203	0.026	0.820	0.412
				Other	-0.050	0.394	-0.004	-0.128	0.899
				Prefer not to say	-0.707	0.465	-0.047	-1.521	0.128
	2 (gender and	0.016	<0.001***						
	.0								
	age)			Constant	3.359	0.122		27.533	<0.001***
	age)			Constant Men	3.359 0.136	0.122 0.070	0.061	27.533 1.944	<0.001*** 0.052
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary	3.359 0.136 0.182	0.122 0.070 0.202	0.061 0.028	27.533 1.944 0.901	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084	0.1220.0700.2020.391	0.061 0.028 -0.007	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215	<0.001**** 0.052 0.368 0.830
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.018	 0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918	<0.001**** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001****
When someone tells me	age) 1 (gender	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.018	 0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001***
When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually	age) 1 (gender only)	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.624 -0.018 3.495	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 0.045	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918 77.791	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001***
When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means pe-	age) 1 (gender only)	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.018 3.495 0.406	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 0.045 0.079	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122 0.157	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918 77.791 5.140	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001*** <0.001***
When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means pe- nile-vaginal penetration.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.624 -0.018 3.495 0.406 -1.087	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 0.045 0.079 0.228	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122 0.157 -0.145	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918 77.791 5.140 -4.767	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001*** <0.001*** <0.001***
When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means pe- nile-vaginal penetration.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.018 3.495 0.406 -1.087 -1.379	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 0.045 0.079 0.228 0.441	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122 0.157 -0.145 -0.093	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918 77.791 5.140 -4.767 -3.062	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001*** <0.001*** <0.001*** <0.001*** 0.002**
When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means pe- nile-vaginal penetration.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.060	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say	3.359 0.136 0.182 -0.084 -0.624 -0.018 3.495 0.406 -1.087 -1.379 -0.895	0.122 0.070 0.202 0.391 0.462 0.005 0.045 0.079 0.228 0.441 0.522	0.061 0.028 -0.007 -0.042 -0.122 0.157 -0.145 -0.093 -0.052	27.533 1.944 0.901 -0.215 -1.349 -3.918 77.791 5.140 -4.767 -3.062 -1.715	<0.001*** 0.052 0.368 0.830 0.178 <0.001*** <0.001*** <0.001*** 0.002** 0.087

	2 (gender and			Constant	3.862	0.137		28.114	<0.001***
	age)			Men	0.418	0.079	0.162	5.307	<0.001***
				Nonbinary	-1.075	0.227	-0.143	-4.728	<0.001***
				Other	-1.379	0.440	-0.095	-3.134	<0.001***
				Prefer not to say	-0.827	0.520	-0.048	-1.589	0.112
				age	-0.014	0.005	-0.085	-2.827	0.005**
In sex, there is usually a	1 (gender	0.011	0.003**						
more dominant and a	only)			constant	3.030	0.039		76.939	<0.001***
more submissive partner				Men	0.204	0.069	0.92	3.0946	0.003**
				Nonbinary	-0.104	0.200	-0.016	-0.520	0.603
				Other	-0.887	0.387	-0.071	-2.292	0.022
				Prefer not to say	-0.230	0.457	-0.016	-0.503	0.615
	2 (gender and	0.019	<0.001***						
	.0								
	age)			constant	3.378	0.120		28.071	<0.001***
	age)			constant Men	3.378 0.215	0.120 0.069	0.098	28.071 3.124	<0.001*** 0.002**
	age)			constant Men Nonbinary	3.378 0.215 -0.092	0.120 0.069 0.199	0.098 0.014	28.071 3.124 -0.464	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643
	age)			constant Men Nonbinary Other	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386	0.098 -0.014 -0.073	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018
	age)			constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717
	age)			constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	 3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 	 0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011 -0.095	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002**
It is a biological need for	age) 1 (gender	0.061	<0.001***	constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014	 0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011 -0.095	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002**
It is a biological need for men to release sexual	age) 1 (gender only)	0.061	<0.001***	constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 2.768	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 0.045	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011 -0.095	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058 61.572	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002** <0.001***
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to	age) 1 (gender only)	0.061	<0.001***	constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 2.768 0.593	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 0.045 0.079	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011 -0.095	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058 61.572 7.511	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002** <0.001*** <0.001***
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time	age) 1 (gender only)	0.061	<0.001***	constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 2.768 0.593 -0.435	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 0.045 0.045 0.079 0.228	0.098 −0.014 −0.073 −0.011 −0.095 0.229 −0.058	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058 61.572 7.511 -1.906	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002** <0.001*** <0.001*** 0.057
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time	age) 1 (gender only)	0.061	<0.001***	constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 2.768 0.593 -0.435 -0.911	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 0.045 0.079 0.228 0.442	0.098 -0.014 -0.073 -0.011 -0.095 0.229 -0.058 -0.062	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058 61.572 7.511 -1.906 -2.062	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002** <0.001*** <0.001*** 0.057 0.039*
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time	age) 1 (gender only)	0.061	<0.001***	 constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say 	3.378 0.215 -0.092 -0.913 -0.165 -0.014 2.768 0.593 -0.435 -0.911 0.432	0.120 0.069 0.199 0.386 0.456 0.004 0.045 0.079 0.228 0.442 0.522	0.098 −0.014 −0.073 −0.011 −0.095 0.229 −0.058 −0.062 0.025	28.071 3.124 -0.464 -2.368 -0.363 -3.058 61.572 7.511 -1.906 -2.062 0.827	<0.001*** 0.002** 0.643 0.018 0.717 0.002** < <0.001*** <0.001*** <0.057 0.039* 0.408

	2 (gender and			Constant	2.516	0.138		18.267	<0.001***
	age)			Men	0.585	0.079	0.226	7.402	<0.001***
				Nonbinary	-0.443	0.228	-0.059	-1.945	0.052
				Other	-0.892	0.441	-0.061	-2.022	0.043*
				Prefer not to say	0.385	0.522	0.022	0.738	0.461
				age	0.010	0.005	0.059	1.934	0.053*
In a heterosexual sce-	1 (gender	0.013	0.002**						
nario, I would expect the	only)			constant	2.010	0.039		51.145	<0.001**
man to determine the				Men	0.123	0.069	0.056	1.789	0.074
pace of the sexual en-				Nonbinary	-0.529	0.200	-0.083	-2.650	0.008**
counter.				Other	-0.868	0.386	-0.070	-2.246	0.025
				Prefer not to say	-0.210	0.456	-0.014	-0.461	0.645
	2 (gender and	0.012	0.005**						
	age)			Constant	1.98	0.121		16.408	<0.001***
	age)			Constant Men	1.98 0.122	0.121 0.069	0.055	16.408 1.770	<0.001*** 0.077
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary	1.98 0.122 0.530	0.1210.0690.200	0.055 0.083	16.408 1.770 -2.654	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008**
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other	 1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 	0.1210.0690.2000.0387	0.055 - 0.083 - 0.070	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025*
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say	 1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 	 0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 	0.055 - 0.083 - 0.070 -0.015	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473	<0.001**** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636
	age)			Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 0.001	 0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 	0.055 - 0.083 - 0.070 -0.015 0.008	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473 0.270	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787
I usually consider a sex-	age) 1 (gender	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age	1.98 0.122 −0.530 −0.865 −0.216 0.001	 0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 	0.055 - 0.083 - 0.070 -0.015 0.008	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473 0.270	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787
I usually consider a sex- ual interaction complete	age) 1 (gender only)	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant	1.98 0.122 −0.530 −0.865 −0.216 0.001 2.380	0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 0.046	0.055 - 0.083 - 0.070 -0.015 0.008	16.408 1.770 −2.654 −2.238 −0.473 0.270 51.669	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787 <0.001***
I usually consider a sex- ual interaction complete when a man ejaculates.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men	 1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 0.001 2.380 -0.255 	0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 0.046 0.081	0.055 -0.083 -0.070 -0.015 0.008	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473 0.270 51.669 -3.154	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787 <0.001*** 0.002**
I usually consider a sex- ual interaction complete when a man ejaculates.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary	1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 0.001 2.380 -0.255 -0.713	0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 0.004 0.046 0.081 0.234	0.055 -0.083 -0.070 -0.015 0.008 -0.098 -0.095	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473 0.270 51.669 -3.154 -3.049	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787 <0.001*** 0.002** 0.002**
I usually consider a sex- ual interaction complete when a man ejaculates.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other	1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 0.001 2.380 -0.255 -0.713 -0.951	0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 0.004 0.046 0.081 0.234 0.453	0.055 -0.083 -0.070 -0.015 0.008 -0.098 -0.095 -0.065	16.408 1.770 -2.654 -2.238 -0.473 0.270 51.669 -3.154 -3.049 -2.101	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787 <0.001*** 0.002** 0.002** 0.002** 0.036*
I usually consider a sex- ual interaction complete when a man ejaculates.	age) 1 (gender only)	0.016	<0.001***	Constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say age constant Men Nonbinary Other Prefer not to say	1.98 0.122 -0.530 -0.865 -0.216 0.001 2.380 -0.255 -0.713 -0.951 -0.180	0.121 0.069 0.200 0.0387 0.457 0.004 0.046 0.081 0.234 0.453 0.535	0.055 -0.083 -0.070 -0.015 0.008 -0.098 -0.095 -0.065 -0.010	16.408 1.770 −2.654 −2.238 −0.473 0.270 51.669 −3.154 −3.049 −2.101 −0.336	<0.001*** 0.077 0.008** 0.025* 0.636 0.787 <0.001*** 0.002** 0.002** 0.036* 0.737

	2 (age and			Constant	2.166	0.141		15.342	<0.001***
	gender)			Men	-0.262	0.081	-0.101	-3.240	0.001**
				Nonbinary	-0.720	0.234	-0.096	-3.082	0.002**
				Other	-0.935	0.452	-0.064	-2.067	0.039*
				Prefer not to say	-0.219	0.535	-0.013	-0.410	0.682
				age	0.008	0.005	0.050	1.600	0.110
Having sex during (my or	1 (gender only)	0.001	0.334						
my partner's) menstruation				constant	2.771	0.048		58.311	<0.001***
seems off-putting to me.				Men	-0.045	0.083	-0.017	-0.544	0.586
				Nonbinary	-0.327	0.241	-0.043	-1.355	0.176
				Other	-0.771	0.467	-0.052	-1.651	0.099
				Prefer not to say	0.029	0.552	0.002	0.052	0.959
	2 (gender and	0.000	0.359						
	age)			Constant	2.639	0.146		18.097	<0.001***
				Men	-0.050	0.084	-0.019	-0.597	0.551
				Nonbinary	-0.331	0.241	-0.043	-1.373	0.170
				Other	-0.761	0.467	-0.051	-1.630	0.103
				Prefer not to say	0.004	0.552	0.000	0.008	0.994
				age	0.005	0.005	0.030	0.961	0.337
It is awkward to talk dur-	1 (gender only)	0.003	0.128						
ing sex.				constant	1.936	0.038		51.161	<0.001***
				Men	0.036	0.066	0.017	0.545	0.586
				Nonbinary	0.064	0.192	0.010	0.335	0.738
				Other	-0.364	0.372	-0.031	-0.980	0.327
				Prefer not to say	1.064	0.439	0.076	2.423	0.016
		0.003	0.174						

2 (gender and	Constant	1.855	0.116		15.977	<0.001***
age)	Men	0.034	0.067	0.016	0.504	0.615
	Nonbinary	0.062	0.192	0.010	0.320	0.749
	Other	-0.358	0.372	-0.030	-0.963	0.336
	Prefer not to say	1.049	0.440	0.074	2.386	0.017
	age	0.003	0.004	0.023	0.735	0.463

p < 0.05*, p < 0.01**, p < 0.001***

Factor Analysis

Appendix Figure 13: Chi2 by Mahalanobis Distance Plot for Multivariate Normality



Full Initial Model (N = 1.029)

Appendix Table 7: Full Initial Factor Model – Total Variance Explained

				То	otal Variance Explain	ned			
-		Initial Eigenvalues	3	Extractio	on Sums of Squared	Loadings			
Factor	Total	% of Vari-	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum
		ance							
1	2.815	28.152	28.152	2.111	21.113	21.113	1.077	10.771	10.771
2	1.104	11.044	39.196	0.425	4.245	25.358	1.009	10.091	20.862
3	1.044	10.436	49.633	0.325	3.254	28.612	0.775	7.750	28.612
4	0.921	9.213	58.846						
5	0.793	7.934	66.781						
6	0.753	7.534	74.315						
7	0.690	6.897	81.212						
8	0.670	6.697	87.908						
9	0.656	6.557	94.466						
10	0.553	5.534	100.000						

Rotated Factor Matrix (initial full model)		Factor	
	1	2	3
With heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex.	0.539	0.100	0.129
In sex, there is usually a more dominant partner and a more submis- sive partner.	0.499	0.279	0.119
Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm.	0.410	0.075	0.088
In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of a sexual encounter.	0.355	0.355	0.244
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time.	0.151	0.534	0.053
In a romantic situation between two people, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood.	0.055	0.432	0.192
When someone tells me they "had sex", I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration.	0.360	0.432	0.085
I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu- lates.	0.246	0.317	0.298
It is awkward to talk during sex.	0.102	0.070	0.642
Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me.	0.131	0.158	0.358

Appendix Table 8: Full Initial Factor Model – Rotated Factor Matrix

Extraction Method: Maximum Likelihood

Rotation Method: Varimax Rotation with Kaiser Normalization, converged in 4 iterations

Appendix Figure 14: Initial Full Factor Model – Scree Plot



Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)

Appendix Table 9: Gendered Factor Model 1 – Total Variance Explained

				Те	otal Variance Explain	ned			
-		Initial Eigenvalues	5	Extracti	on Sums of Squared				
Factor	Total	% of Vari-	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum
		ance							
1	2.811	28.112	28.112	1.365	13.648	13.648	1.146	11.458	11.458
2	1.125	11.249	39.361	1.619	16.190	29.838	1.114	11.138	22.596
3	1.090	10.903	50.264	0.374	3.737	33.575	1.098	10.979	33.575
4	0.903	9.032	59.297						
5	0.825	8.250	67.547						
6	0.773	7.731	75.278						
7	0.678	6.782	82.059						
8	0.644	6.439	88.499						
9	0.603	6.026	94.525						
10	0.548	5.475	100.000						

trix		Factor	
Rotated Factor Matrix (women only)	1	2	3
In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive	0.577	0.232	0.078
partner.			
With heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex.	0.559	0.060	0.103
In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter.	0.424	0.287	0.160
I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu- lates.	0.186	0.509	0.178
When someone tells me they "had sex", I assume that means pe- nile-vaginal penetration.	0.309	0.473	0.046
In a romantic situation between two people, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood.	-0.006	0.426	0.154
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time.	0.225	0.418	-0.017
Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm.	0.302	0.322	0.060
It is awkward to talk during sex.	0.100	0.131	0.965
Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me.	0.199	0.118	0.252

Appendix Table 10: Gendered Factor Model 1 – Rotated Factor Matrix

Extraction Method: Maximum Likelihood

Rotation Method: Varimax Rotation with Kaiser Normalization, converged in 6 iterations

Appendix Figure 15: Gendered Factor Model 1 – Scree Plot



Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)

Appendix Table 11: Gendered Factor Model 2 – Total Variance Explained

				Те	otal Variance Explain	ned			
		Initial Eigenvalues	3	Extraction	Extraction Sums of Squared Loadings				
Factor	Total	% of Vari-	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum
		ance							
1	2.803	28.034	28.034	2.081	20.810	20.810	1.409	14.089	14.089
2	1.191	11.912	39.946	0.644	6.442	27.252	0.952	9.518	23.607
3	1.067	10.672	50.618	0.422	4.215	31.467	0.786	7.860	31.467
4	0.836	8.360	58.978						
5	0.792	7.917	66.895						
6	0.758	7.577	74.472						
7	0.715	7.154	81.627						
8	0.658	6.579	88.205						
9	0.653	6.529	94.734						
10	0.527	5.266	100.000						

		Factor	
Rotated Factor Matrix (men only)	1	2	3
In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine	0.604	0.045	0.087
the pace of sexual encounter.			
With heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex.	0.492	0.358	0.079
When someone tells me they "had sex", I usually assume that means penile-vaginal penetration.	0.460	0.089	0.336
I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejac- ulates.	0.445	0.153	0.174
In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner.	0.418	0.221	-0.022
In a romantic situation between two people, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood.	0.348	0.281	-0.002
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time.	0.234	0.471	0.181
Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off- putting to me.	0.171	0.470	-0.023
Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm.	0.043	0.466	0.067
It is awkward to talk during sex.	0.102	0.083	0.769

Appendix Table 12: Gendered Factor Model 2 – Rotated Factor Matrix

Extraction Method: Maximum Likelihood

Rotation Method: Varimax Rotation with Kaiser Normalization, converged in 5 iterations

Appendix Figure 16: Gendered Factor Model 2 – Scree Plot



Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)

Appendix Table 13: Binary Weighted Factor Model – Total Variance Explained

				Те	otal Variance Explair	ned			
-		Initial Eigenvalues	3	Extractio	on Sums of Squared				
Factor	Total	% of Vari-	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum	Total	% of variance	% cum
		ance							
1	2.834	28.344	28.344	1.240	12.400	12.400	1.459	14.587	14.587
2	1.136	11.356	39.700	1.828	18.278	30.678	1.061	10.606	25.193
3	1.015	10.151	49.851	0.378	3.776	34.453	0.926	9.261	34.453
4	0.952	9.521	59.371						
5	0.793	7.933	67.305						
6	0.754	7.543	74.848						
7	0.688	6.883	81.731						
8	0.680	6.796	88.527						
9	0.618	6.178	94.705						
10	0.529	5.295	100.000						

Matrix	Factor		
Rotated Factor Matrix (full weighted model)	1	2	3
In sex, there is uaually a more dominant and a more submissive	0.529	0.110	0.120
partner.			
In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine	0.513	0.032	0.307
the pace of the sexual encounter.			
When someone tells me they "had sex", I assume that means pe-	0.512	0.095	0.146
nile-vaginal penetration.			
With heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the	0.468	0.143	0.092
woman during sex.			
It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time	0.445	-0.035	0.223
to time.			
In a romantic situation between two people, if one person asks the	0.300	0.025	0.292
other "can I kiss you?" that takes away from the romantic mood.			
Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm.	0.168	0.984	0.055
It is awkward to talk during sex.	0.075	0.060	0.579
0.1			
Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-	0.200	-0.046	0.404
parting to me.			
I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejacu-	0.270	0.207	0.388

Appendix Table 14: Binary Weighted Factor Model – Rotated Factor Matrix

Extraction Method: Maximum Likelihood

Rotation Method: Varimax Rotation with Kaiser Normalization, converged in 5 iterations



Appendix Figure: 17 Binary Weighted Factor Model – Scree Plot
Network Analysis

Appendix Figure 18: Initial Full Network Model – Network Graph

Initial Full Model (N = 1.029)



Cluster 1	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates."
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."
Cluster 2	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile-vag- inal penetration."
	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."
Cluster 3	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me."
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."

Appendix Table 15: Initial Full Network Model –Community Structure

Gendered Model 1: Women (N = 669)

Appendix Figure 19: Gendered Network Model 1 – Network Graph



Cluster 1	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me."							
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."							
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."							
	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."							
Cluster 2	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile- vaginal penetration."							
	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates."							
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."							
Cluster 3	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."							
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."							
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."							

Appendix Table 16: Gendered Network Model 1 – Community Structure

Gendered Model 2: Men (N = 321)

Appendix Figure 20: Gendered Network Model 2 – Network Graph



Cluster 1	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."
	piv	"When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume that means penile- vaginal penetration."
Cluster 2	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."
	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."
Cluster 3	menstruation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me."
	ejaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates."
	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."

Appendix Table 17: Gendered Network Model 2 – Community Structure

Binary Weighted Model (N = 642)

Appendix Figure 21: Binary Weighted Network Model – Network Graph



Cluster 1	romance	"In a romantic situation, if one person asks the other "can I kiss you?", that takes away from the romantic mood."						
	bio_need	"It is a biological need for men to release sexual pressure from time to time."						
	<i>piv</i> "When someone tells me they 'had sex', I usually assume the inal penetration."							
	domsub	"In sex, there is usually a more dominant and a more submissive partner."						
	male_pace	"In a heterosexual scenario, I would expect the man to determine the pace of the sexual encounter (for example, I expect the man to introduce tongue into kissing)."						
	missionary	"In heterosexual couples, the man is usually on top of the woman during sex."						
Cluster 2	fjaculation	"I usually consider a sexual interaction complete when a man ejaculates."						
	female_orgasm	"Most women have a hard time reaching orgasm."						
Cluster 3	awkward	"It is awkward to talk during sex."						
	menstriation	"Having sex during (my or my partner's) menstruation seems off-putting to me."						

Appendix Table 18: Binary Weighted Network Model – Community Structure

Network Model Comparison

Appendix Table 19: Network Model Comparison

	Initial full model			Women only			Men only			Weighted full model		
Sample size	1.029			669		321			642			
Density	46.67%			51.11%		51.11%			46.67%			
Clustering coefficient	0.45			0.554			0.467			0.411		
BIC	167.63			171.77			154.85			157.9		
Item centrality	Degree	Close-	Between-	Degree	Close-	Between-	Degree	Close-	Between-	Degree	Close-	Between-
	cen-	ness	ness cen-	central-	ness	ness cen-	central-	ness	ness cen-	central-	ness	ness cen-
	trality	central-	trality	ity	central-	trality	ity	central-	trality	ity	central-	trality
		ity			ity			ity			ity	
romance	4	0.0196	0	2	0.021	2	2	0.025	0	4	0.027	0
Female_orgasm	4	0.027	0	4	0.029	2	3	0.034	3	3	0.031	0
Missionary	4	0.028	0	4	0.025	0	4	0.039	14	4	0.038	8
PIV	6	0.03	10	5	0.033	3	5	0.033	2	4	0.029	2
Domsub	5	0.028	1	5	0.03	1	4	0.024	0	5	0.029	0
Bio_need	4	0.023	1	5	0.025	2	4	0.244	0	4	0.027	0
Male_pace	5	0.031	6	5	0.033	9	6	0.042	16	6	0.042	16
Ejaculation	4	0.034	16	5	0.038	14	4	0.033	2	3	0.036	9
Menstruation	1	0.018	0	1	0.024	0	3	0.026	6	2	0.024	0
awkward	3	0.022	8	4	0.03	12	3	0.022	0	3	0.026	3